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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

The Hon TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, )P, Chairman
P WM S A2 GBM GBS SBS AWt T

RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s consolidated
revenue was HK$140,048,000 (2019: HK$151,102,000). The loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$24,111,000
(2019: Profit HK$188,050,000) while loss per share was HK9.29 cents
(2019: earnings per share HK72.44 cents). The loss was primarily
accounted by the absence of one-off gain on the disposal of the entire
equity interest in Hung King Development Limited in last year and the
share of loss from associates this year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the business environment of meats
trading industry was full of challenges. Due to the outbreak of
African Swine Fever (“ASF”) in Mainland China and its huge
overseas demand, the global supply of frozen meats had witnessed
a sudden spike and lingered throughout the year. Also, the coupling
effect of COVID-19 and social movement in Hong Kong has
negatively impacted to the local economy and dampened local
consumer spending. Nonetheless, with the Group’s solid foundation,
comprehensive distribution network, flexible pricing strategy and
wealth of marketing experience, the core business developed steadily.
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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

Always bring you the world’s superior quality frozen meats

TE 1SR 7 785 75 K BEEL ORI

Frozen Meats Trading

During the year, the trading environment of frozen meats was
volatile. The shortage of local supply due to the spread of ASF and
the trade war between Mainland China and the United States led to
huge import demand of overseas frozen meats by Mainland China
and resulted in decreased supplies to Hong Kong market from major
production countries including South America. Besides, the outbreak
of COVID-19 in the last quarter of the financial year and the social
movement in Hong Kong in the second half of 2019, that greatly
reduced the number of visitors from Mainland China and overseas
and led to weakened local consumer spending sentiment, negatively
impacted the frozen meats trading business. However, during the
year, the Group was able to steadily develop its trading of Japanese
wagyu beef in Hong Kong to high-end customer groups and being
well-received by patronage consumers, benefitted by the consistently
high-quality products from the joint venture partner, one of the largest
Japanese wagyu farm operators in Japan. For the financial year ended
31 March 2020, the Group’s frozen meats trading revenue recorded
HK$125,544,000 (2019: HK$138,310,000).

Other Food Business

Beefar’s, the Group’s Japanese BBQ restaurant, is a joint venture
with its Japanese partner, Kamichiku Holdings Co., Ltd. who provides
exclusive supply of stable and high-quality “Satsuma” brand Japanese
wagyu beef. Due to the impact of the COVID-19 and the local social
movement, consumers in Hong Kong have reduced their desire to dine
out, coupled with a substantial decrease in visitors from Mainland
China and overseas, resulting in a decline in turnover.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

Food Business Investment

As at 31 March 2020, the Group maintained its equity interest in
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”) at approximately
29.98%. During the year, restaurants and retail shops businesses of
FSMHL were negatively impacted by the outbreak of COVID-19 and
the protests in Hong Kong. Nevertheless, the multifaceted expansion
and success of production and distribution businesses of FSMHL in
Hong Kong and Mainland China helped to partly offset the negative
impact. For the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s
share of loss from associates was HK$5,940,000 (2019: profit
HK$9,044,000).

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the business environment is expected to remain
challenging in the upcoming year as the global economy has been
severely hit by the COVID-19 pandemic and may require a longer
period of time for recovery. In the short run, the outlook of the
Hong Kong economy will remain gloomy with weak consumer
spending sentiment. In light of various unfavorable factors, the Group
will continue its cautious attitude in business operation and cost
management. With the long-standing relationships with Hong Kong
customers and overseas suppliers, the Group will strive to leverage on
its competitive advantage to solidify its frozen meats trading business
for a stable growth. The Group will also continue to focus on the
trading of Japanese wagyu beef in Hong Kong to further increase the
revenue. Furthermore, to meet the ever-growing customer demands,
the Group will utilise its recently set-up Japanese office to expand the
purchases in Japan for the diversification of product categories and
origins.

With great market confidence, FSMHL will establish a platform for
food products across Mainland China, Hong Kong and Japan, pursuing
its business development strategy of “Based in Hong Kong, Yearning
for Mainland, Reaching Out to the World”.

FSMHL will continue to actively expand its food distribution business
and offer numerous products in big chain stores such as Don Don
Donki, Aeon and OK Convenience Store, consolidating its leading
status in the Hong Kong market. At the same time, FSMHL will strive
to further develop and establish the hugely promising Mainland China
market by promoting its products which are currently available on a
number of e-commerce platforms in Mainland China, such as Taobao,
Tmall, Tmall Global and Jingdong to increase sales and expand its
market share in the Mainland China.

Besides, FSMHL successfully acquired Miyata Holding Co., Ltd.
and its subsidiaries (“Miyata”), a renowned Japanese confectionery
distributor, to increase its presence in the food distribution industry,
creating a unique platform which covers Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Japan. Riding on Miyata’s current customer base, FSMHL will
be able to enter the Japanese consumer market. In parallel, FSMHL
will introduce to the markets of Hong Kong and Mainland China those
top-notch Japanese confectionery products provided by Miyata.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders and our business partners for their
support and trust to the management team. My gratitude also extends
to our staff for their loyalty and diligence in the developments of the
Group.

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

During the year under review, the Group’s business faced with
challenges from the global factor of tightened supplies from and
heightened offer prices of overseas meat products, as well as the
domestic factor of dampened local consumer spending caused by
the social movement and COVID-19. Nonetheless, with the Group’s
solid foundation, extensive distribution network and flexible pricing
strategy, coupling with the expansion into the trading of Japanese
wagyu beef leveraging on the exclusive supply of high quality
products from our joint venture partner, Kamichiku Holdings Co.,
Ltd., the Group’s overall business was able to develop steadily. For
the year under review, the Group’s consolidated revenue recorded at
HK$140,048,000 (2019: HK$151,102,000).

Frozen Meats Trading

Frozen meats trading remains as the core business of the Group. On
one hand, the tightened overseas supply of frozen meats to Hong
Kong market, caused by the huge import demand at higher buying
prices by Mainland China as a result of the spread of African Swine
Fever (“ASF”) and the trade war between Mainland China and the
United States, not only limited the Group’s buying quantities but also
purchased at higher imported prices. On the other hand, the outbreak
of COVID-19 in the last quarter of this financial year and the social
movement in the second half of 2019 in Hong Kong continually and
substantially affected the overall incoming visitors from Mainland
China and overseas, with 98.6% down recorded in March 2020
compared to same period of last year. The rapid slowdown in economy
resulted in weakened consumer spending sentiment and fierce price
competition in the market which exerted pressure to the Group’s
trading gross profit margin. However, during the year, the Group
managed to steadily develop its trading of Japanese wagyu beef which
partly mitigate the negative impacts.

Other Food Business

Beefar’s, the Group’s Japanese BBQ restaurant, a joint venture with
its Japanese partner, Kamichiku Holdings Co., Ltd. and located in the
busiest commercial and tourist district in Tsim Sha Tsui, continued to
be the patronage of lovers of high-quality “Satsuma” brand Japanese
wagyu beef. However, the local social movement and the COVID-19
pandemic substantially curbed down the incoming visitors from
Mainland China and overseas and in turn largely affected domestic
consumers’ desire to dine out which impacted the performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Key Performance Indicators

Management has been provided with the following key performance
indicators information to manage its business. Appropriate strategies,
if necessary, are set to improve the performance after undergoing the
processes of evaluating and controlling:
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Year ended 31 March
BEZHA=1—HILEE

2020 2019

“RRAE “E

Revenue (HK$’000) WA (s T-50) 140,048 151,102
Gross profit margin (%)™ BRE(FHH)O 10.0 9.6
Trade receivables turnover (days)® JE Wt B ) R Ak R i (R ) @ 39 50
Inventory turnover (days)® R (R © 101 89
Operating expenses to sales (%)® RefMEGELR(Hal)@ 17.4 16.1

(1)  Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue.

(2) The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the average
of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and multiplied by
number of days in the relevant period.

(3) The calculation of inventory turnover days is based on the average of the
opening and closing balances divided by costs of purchase for goods sold
and multiplied by number of days in the relevant period.

(4) Operating expenses to sales is calculated as selling and distribution
expenses and operating segments related administrative expenses
(excluding depreciation) divided by revenue.

Revenue

There was a decrease in overall revenue over previous year. As
disclosed in the Operating Segment Information of note 4 in the
financial statements, trading business decreased by approximately
9.2% to HK$125,544,000 (2019: HK$138,310,000) affected by the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in the last quarter of this financial
year and the social movement in the second half of 2019 in Hong
Kong, that greatly reduced the number of visitors from Mainland
China and overseas. Also, the slowdown in economic growth led to
weakened local consumer spending and negatively impacted the frozen
meats trading business. On the other hand, the operations of restaurant,
advertising and retailing of wagyu beef contributed to an increase of
revenue in the segment of other business to HK$14,504,000 (2019:
HK$12,792,000).

Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit margin slightly increased to 10.0% from 9.6% of last
year. Further analysis indicates that gross profit margin for trading
operation was 3.4% (2019: 4.5%) which was due to the increase
in import price which eroded the gross profit margin. On the other
hand, the improvement of gross profit margin in the segment of other
business helps to enhance the overall gross profit margin.

Trade Receivables Turnover

Trade receivables turnover days was improved to 39 days (2019:
50 days), after impairment allowance to trade receivables under the
accounting standard HKFRS 9, contributable to the relatively higher
proportion of sales deriving from customer group of wet market whose
credit payment days is normally shorter.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

Inventory Turnover

Inventory turnover days were 101 days (2019: 89 days), which
maintaining at a healthy level with a closing inventory of
HK$27,450,000 (2019: HK$36,422,000).

Ratio of Operating Expenses to Sales

Ratio of operating expenses to sales was 17.4% (2019: 16.1%). The
slightly increase was mainly accountable by additional marketing
expenses to promote sales.

Food Business Investment

As at 31 March 2020, the Group maintained its equity interest in
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”) at approximately
29.98%. Affected by the outbreak of COVID-19 in the last quarter
of the financial year and the protests in Hong Kong in the second
half of 2019, FSMHL recorded a loss for the reported financial year,
primarily attributable to the negative impact on the performance of the
restaurants and retail shops.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s share of loss from
associates was HK$5,940,000 (2019: profit HK$9,044,000).

Distribution Business

Based on a solid brand presence, the FSMHL’s food distribution
business has been steadily developing. FSMHL has been cooperating
with famous food manufacturers worldwide and distributes
quality food products from many international brands. Through a
comprehensive distribution network and precise sales strategies, the
sales team constantly sources unique and high-quality food products
such as ice-cream, snacks, milk powder, health food, sauce, ham
and sausage from Japan, Korea, Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia,
Singapore, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, the Netherlands,
the United States and Mainland China, providing consumers with
diverse delicacies from around the world. In pursuing new areas of
breakthrough, FSMHL has achieved and fostered the development of
the Japanese ice-cream business with promising result in this year.

Manufacturing Business

With the stringent quality control and comprehensive monitoring
system in production, FSMHL has gained market trust and received
numerous international accreditations, including “HACCP”, “ISO
9001”7, “ISO 220007, “GMP certificate”, “Certification under Hong
Kong Q-Mark Product Scheme for over 30 years” and “HKQAA Hong
Kong Registration — Cooking Oil Registration Scheme Certification”
from the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency. FSMHL operates 18
plants in Hong Kong and Mainland China, producing a wide range of
food products that suit different customer needs and being distributed
through its one-stop business platform.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Retailing and Catering Business

FSMHL’s retailing and catering businesses were adversely impacted
by the protests and the COVID-19, but continuing to maintain the
high standards and innovative offerings. The Chinese and Japanese
restaurants of FSMHL are popular and highly regarded in both
Guangdong and Hong Kong. Both the Shanghai vegetarian restaurant
“Kung Tak Lam” (Causeway Bay Branch), which has received the
Michelin Plate in the Michelin Guide 2020, and the Hong Kong branch
of “Sushiyoshi”, with a Two-Star rating in the Osaka Michelin, are
diners’ favourites. Besides the existing Admiralty Branch, a new
branch of the Japanese-style restaurant “Shiki ¢ Etsu” was opened in
Kowloon Bay. In Guangzhou, “Panxi Restaurant” and the Japanese
sushi restaurant chain “Sushi Oh” are famous among food lovers.

“Okashi Land” Japanese snack stores have been providing consumers
with delicious and trendy Japanese snacks. FSMHL has added
Japanese ice-cream counters in many of the “Okashi Land” stores
which allow consumers to enjoy Japanese ice-cream anytime,
anywhere. “YOKU MOKU” cookie stores continue to be popular
among consumers.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers. As at 31
March 2020, the Group had banking facilities of HK$220,000,000, of
which 9% had been utilised. The Group had a gearing ratio of 3% as
at 31 March 2020. This is expressed as the total interest-bearing bank
borrowings to equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.
Bank borrowings of the Group, denominated in Hong Kong dollars, are
mainly trust receipt loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings”)
at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank
Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities are repayable
within one year. As at 31 March 2020, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of HK$154,389,000. There were no significant changes in
the Group’s contingent liabilities and no charges on the Group’s assets
as at the end of the reporting period.

Staff employment

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2020 was
43. Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market terms and individuals’ qualifications. Salaries and wages are
normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other
relevant factors.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company present their
report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates
are set out in notes 1 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties the Group facing
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 4 to 11 of
this annual report. In addition, discussions on the Group’s relationship
with the key stakeholders, environmental policies and performance,
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
significant impact on the Group can be found in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” set out on pages 28 to 36 of this
annual report. These discussions form part of this Report of the
Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 57 to 140.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

Y 5 R 2

A AR o % M D AR R L A 2 R A - R R
A 2 BRI 224 % B O T 8 2 A7 A U 5 i o
HHES] > WEIIWT

below:
Year ended 31 March
BEZH=1+—HIL4EE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZROFRE ZFE-hWE ZF-NFE ZF—LE ZF—A
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BWToC B TOC EB¥ToL  BWToL  BEFTL
(Restated) (Restated)
(EH) (BEH)
RESULTS e
CONTINUING OPERATIONS PRI B R
REVENUE KA 140,048 151,102 151,886 137,310 146,043
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR $##H KB ¥ K2
FROM CONTINUING ENEA
OPERATIONS (fE#) (24,056) 188,226 78,100 (2,509) (8,819)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION ©B&ILEBE%
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM A B & ILRBEKZ
DISCONTINUED OPERATION N JiE - - (11,755) (7,889) (6,730)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR A4 Z #5H]
(FE18) (24,056) 188,226 66,345 (10,398) (15,549)
Attributable to: BB .
Equity holders of the Company N/ £ (24,111) 188,050 66,620 (10,398) (15,549)
Non-controlling interests I A 2 55 176 (275) - -
(24,056) 188,226 66,345 (10,398) (15,549)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2020

Y 85 R BE 2 (A1)

As at 31 March
BR=H=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016

TRORE DR ZFN\E R-EF ZFA

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000
BT Vo T BT T T BT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ as K B
TOTAL ASSETS O A 657,163 704,379 674,190 566,409 589,274
TOTAL LIABILITIES =R (52,433) (52,947) (192,176) (181,663) (174,142)
604,730 651,432 482,014 384,746 415,132

The information set out above does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of sections 291, 297

and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to
HK$204,024,000.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the reporting
period are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

TAI Chun Leung (Vice Chairman)

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)
TAI Chun Kit

TSE Siu Wan

Independent non-executive directors:

CHAN Kay Cheung
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
CHEUNG Wing Choi

Mr. Yip Wai Keung, Mr. Chan Kin Wai, Joseph and Mr. Shohei
Kamimura serve as directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the
year.

In accordance with articles 105(A) of the Company’s articles of
association, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Mr. Tai Chun Leung and
Mr. Chan Kay Cheung will retire as directors from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”). Mr. Tai Chun
Leung and Mr. Chan Kay Cheung have informed the Company that
they will not offer themselves for re-election. Dr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve
John and Mr. Cheung Wing Choi pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and the
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board of
directors with reference to directors’ involvement in the Company’s
affairs, experience, responsibilities and the prevailing market level
of remuneration of executives of similar positions, and reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Company. Details of remuneration
of the directors are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the duties and responsibilities of the remuneration
committee are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in
force for indemnities against liabilities incurred by the directors of the
Company to a third party.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, no director
nor a connected entity of a director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”), were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS R BB AT B B AR 2 W) AT R 0B
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND Wby B M B e Oy 2 B2 B sk A ()
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company AARRAFA GBI ZTE

Number of ordinary shares held,
capacity and nature of interests

Pt 4 5 B B Oy Z W H B B e 2 T

Personal Corporate Approximate
interests interests percentage of
(held as (interests of the Company’s
beneficial controlled Total total issued
owner) corporation) interests shares
P i i 2 A2 vl © AT
il A\ B A (P A JBe oy 48 S 2 BE Y
Name of directors WwHR AW (EERFA) ZhER) HE 25 88 51 AAlK
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen wmrs 6,730,000 84,009,177% 90,739,177 34.95%
CHAN Kay Cheung BRML B 800,000 - 800,000 0.31%
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John B #%J 800,000 - 800,000 0.31%
Notes: it -
(i)  Such shares comprise: 1) W B
(a) 30,914,000 shares, representing approximately 11.91% of the (a) I %30,914,0008 JBE 4 > 4l A A R O 84T
Company’s total issued shares, are owned by Careful Guide Limited B4y B BAI11.91% > J5 HCareful Guide
(“CGL™), which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Limited ((CGLJ) #EH > CGLHI H # 8 W 5k
Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is deemed to be EREWA o Hib > HEMH A L8
interested in the 30,914,000 shares held by CGL; B2 BEA CGLATF A 230,914,000/8 B4 2
RESS 5
(b) 52,907,250 shares, representing approximately 20.38% of the (b) M 2852,907,250 /8 B4y > Al A A | BB AT
Company’s total issued shares, are owned by Special Access JBt 4y 45 9% #920.38% » J% B Special Access
Limited (“SAL”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Limited (TSAL) #EH > SALHY p 7 W 5
Stephen and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, EREAMBHER L L2 EHA - BH
Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are L A W SR A B A BT SAL
deemed to be interested in the 52,907,250 shares held by SAL; and i 252,907,250 e Z WE 2% 5 &
(c) 187,927 shares, representing approximately 0.072% of the ©) M2 187,927 8 BEA > Al A A W) OB AT I
Company’s total issued shares, are beneficially owned by Four Seas Oy 48 85 £10.072% > J5 B Y N 4E A R A
Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”). CGL and SAL, whose " (T ] B8R - MICGL&SAL
beneficial owners are set out under notes (i)(a) and (i)(b) above, (HE R BEA AR 1SR () & ()(b))
in aggregate hold more than one-third of the total issued shares of GIRA ML E G =5 — 2 BTG
FSMHL. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Ay o PRI o LA NN A R UL A W S A
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to be interested in the 2 WA A B DY N 4R T R AT 2 187,927
187,927 shares held by FSMHL. JBe B 2 RE 2
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of an associated corporation

Director’s interests in the equity of FSMHL as an associated
corporation are as follows:

T B dpt v AT O ELUR AR 2 i AT BT R 86 2 1
JBe Ay B M B B Ay 2 W4 B R AT ()

TP R VB 2 I DB OB By 2 % A

25 T AL R T 0 T — O O B P R 2 R RE A
T

Number of ordinary shares held,
capacity and nature of interests

P 05 T B B By 2 B H - B B B A

Approximate

Personal Corporate percentage of

interests interests such associated

(held as (interests of corporation’s

beneficial controlled Total total issued

owner) corporation) interests shares

2 ) B A Mg LM e

(PN (FE W24 7 BEAT B oy A

Name of director HH LM (ERHH) ZHERR) WG ZEAHELk

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen L - 259,478,000 259,478,000 67.52%

Notes: Mt it

(i)  Such shares comprise: (i) Ry A

(a) 70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 18.22% of the total
issued shares of FSMHL, are owned by CGL, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse,
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is deemed to be interested in the
70,000,000 shares held by CGL;

(b) 74,250,000 shares, representing approximately 19.32% of the total
issued shares of FSMHL, are owned by SAL, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Ms. Wu
Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be interested in the
74,250,000 shares held by SAL; and

(c) 115,228,000 shares, representing approximately 29.98% of the total
issued shares of FSMHL, are owned by Capital Season Investments
Limited, which is wholly owned by Advance Finance Investments
Limited (“AFIL”). Since AFIL is wholly owned by the Company,
which in turn Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, SAL, CGL and FSMHL
in aggregate hold more than one-third of the total issued shares of
the Company, and therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have interests in
the 115,228,000 shares of FSMHL.
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BB 55115,228,00008 e A% > Al 1Y 90 48 1 © %
A7 I8 A #4810 #929.98% > J3 HiCapital Season
Investments Limitedf # A > Ifi Capital
Season Investments LimitedHll HHAdvance
Finance Investments Limited ([ AFIL |) &%
WA o MRAFILTIAR A B 2 HHEA - A
AT EFHEZ 4 — Z CE8AT R 58805
P 3 WS 2 - SAL ~ CGL K Y 9 45 8 45
A oo KL > SRR W Ak R A W A &
L B B Y PN 4R T 2 115,228,000/8 JB
2 RS o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of an associated corporation
(continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under
the age of 18) had been granted, or exercised any rights to subscribe
for shares of the Company and its associated corporation required to
be disclosed pursuant to the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any of the directors or their respective spouses and minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

T B dpt v AT O ELUR AR 2 i AT BT R 86 2 1
JBe Ay B M B B Ay 2 W4 B R AT ()

TP R VB 2 1 DB OB By 2 % A ()

B LSO RS > MR ZRE=ZA =1 —H
A2 ) 2% g T e AT BN BB R A A W] ST
o 4 M 2 P (5 3 L 8 o % 00 R R 1) SR XV R ) e A
B B BBy 2 AT A AR 2 R 3¢ T AR 4 i o % MO0 £ )
SE35200 Bt BLAE 2 T i 8 R A 2 T A R B E A
o 2R AR Bt A S ) A R A ) O A2 O

PRECRCRE=ZA=ZT—HIEEE » KA #
R AT B (B 5% A Z B % 185K L
T Z T 2) BEAR W 1% sl AT B 0N B 2 ) £

%ﬁu&%iﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁa&ﬁ%&@%%iﬁﬁ
*Io

o 20 il B Ay o 8 2 2 B

A A T I B T RER A AT 0T R R A A A
Z LA Be R A Z 20 0 W RUAR 2 R 2 e Ay R £
i M U 25 B AT 1 % S E A 5 A O ) s LA A
Jii 2 W] A T SEAT AT % P DL B AT o7 At 3
INCE =453 VK

—E-EEER | BRAAGREERARAT



Report of the Directors
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS = B B AR 4 il e B A B B By 2 W 2 e,
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND A Yy

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2020, the following parties (other than the directors AN AR IR I M W B ] 28336k 2 R E R E Z
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are disclosed Bk R_2FE=A=1+—H % L
above) had interests of 5% or more in the issued shares of the BN ARAFEE LR ETBANEN
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the VLR AL BERARRA B CEAT R0 Ss%eki Dl bz

Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company AN BRI Z 0

Number of ordinary shares held,
capacity and nature of interests

P35 BB By 2 W H > 5 Bl 2

Direct/
personal Corporate Approximate
interests Family interests percentage of
(held as interests  (interests of the Company’s
beneficial (interests of controlled Total total issued
owner) spouse)  corporation) interests shares
Wik FikHER W AWRER fliA 2w 2%

Name of substantial PN £ (Befs  (FEWAH 7By B 2

shareholders FEBRE AR (ERHH) ZHidk) ZHidR) BE 25 B0 5H BEE 2 e

SAL 52,907,250® - - 52,907,250 20.38%

CGL 30,914,000 - - 30,914,000 11.91%

WU Mei Yung, Quinly [ - 37,644,000  53,095,177% 90,739,177 34.95%

Notes: MEE -

(i) SAL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, (i)  SALJI WS pEW et R MEHEE L L2 HE -
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. This interest is also included as a corporate RN EEFER EXHEOO) #EEEREITBA
interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and described in note (i)(b) in the L AR 2 ] AT A A B 3 T e Ay B R TR e Ay 2 2
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or K,/ REE IS BRRARAT S ERRD Z G ]—
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any T A PR e AR 2 AR RELR -

associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of
the Company”.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)) CGL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. This interest is
also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
described in note (i)(a) in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any associated corporation” under “Long
positions in the ordinary shares of the Company”.

(iii) Out of the 37,644,000 shares, 6,730,000 shares (representing
approximately 2.59% of the Company’s total issued shares) are owned
by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, is deemed to have an interest therein. This interest is
also included as a personal interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary
shares of the Company”. The remaining 30,914,000 shares, representing
approximately 11.91% of the Company’s total issued shares, are owned
by CGL. This interest is also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen and described in note (i)(a) in the above section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of the
Company”.

(iv) Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares (representing approximately
0.072% of the Company’s total issued shares) are beneficially owned by
FSMHL. The remaining 52,907,250 shares, representing approximately
20.38% of the Company’s total issued shares, are owned by SAL. These
interests are also included as corporate interests of Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and described in notes (i)(b) and (i)(c) in the above section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of the
Company”.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2020, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation”) had any interests and short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

There was no outstanding share option at the beginning and at the end
of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2020, no share option had
been granted under the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 28 August 2012 (the “Scheme”). Details of the Scheme are set out
in note 26 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. the Honourable TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS,
JP, PhD (honoris causa), aged 72, has been an executive director of
the Company since May 1997. Dr. Tai is the chairman of the Group,
in charge of corporate and policy planning. He has been awarded the
Grand Bauhinia Medal, Gold Bauhinia Star, Silver Bauhinia Star and
Justice of the Peace by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. He served as a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(“CPPCC”) from 2003 to 2018, during which period he was a standing
committee member of the CPPCC from 2008 to 2018. He is currently
a standing committee member of the Guangdong Provincial Committee
of the CPPCC. Dr. Tai was awarded the Order of the Rising Sun, Gold
and Silver Rays by the Government of Japan in 2017 in recognition
of his contributions towards the promotion of Japanese food products
in China. He is currently a member of the Board of Trustees of Jinan
University and serves several public positions, including the president
of the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the honorary president of
Friends of Hong Kong Association, the founding chairman of the Hong
Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members Association, the chairman of the
Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors and a special
advisor to China National Food Industry Association. He received a
number of awards including Industrialist of the Year Award conferred
by Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Other accolades include
Asia’s Leading Food Entrepreneur of the Year 2020, Certificate of
Honor for Business Lifetime Achievement for Producing Quality
Food Products, the Worldwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business
Leader Award 2012-2013, the World Outstanding Chinese Award,
the Philanthropist Award of the Grand Charity Ceremony 2011,
the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service Award of Japan, the
Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of
Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the Outstanding
Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry, the China
Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished Management
Entrepreneur, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”,“Honourable
Citizen of Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City”
in Mainland China. He is also the founder, chairman and executive
director of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), an
associated corporation of the Company and the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director of
Careful Guide Limited and Special Access Limited, both of which are
the substantial shareholders of the Company. Dr. Tai is the father of
Mr. Tai Chun Leung, the vice chairman of the Group and an executive
director of the Company and Mr. Tai Chun Kit, an executive director
of the Company, and the managing director and an executive director
of FSMHL.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. TAI Chun Leung, aged 45, has been an executive director of
the Company since January 2018. Mr. Tai is the vice chairman of the
Group, responsible for formulating and planning of the development
direction and business diversification of the Group. Mr. Tai holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from the California
Southern University in the United States and a Bachelor of Commerce
degree from Macquarie University in Australia. Before joining the
Group, Mr. Tai had worked for an international accounting firm. He
worked for the Group between 1998 and 2012 and was an executive
director of the Company and the assistant managing director of the
Group from 2004 to 2012. Mr. Tai possesses experiences in business
development, finance, information technology, sales, marketing,
merchandising and food manufacturing. He is a son of Dr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen, the chairman of the Group and an executive director
of the Company and the brother of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, an executive
director of the Company, and the managing director and an executive
director of FSMHL.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 64, has been an executive
director of the Company since July 1995. Mr. Man is the managing
director of the Group, responsible for the overall management
planning and control. Mr. Man has a Master of Commerce degree
from the University of New South Wales in Australia. He is also a
member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has gained extensive experience in finance and
accounting from overseas multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined
the Group in 1992. He is also an executive director of FSMHL.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 37, has been an executive director of the
Company since May 2013. Mr. Tai is responsible for new businesses
planning and development of the Group. Mr. Tai holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration (Hons) degree from City University of
Hong Kong. He has extensive experience in retail management, brands
development and marketing planning. Mr. Tai joined the Group in
2012. He is also the managing director and an executive director of
FSMHL. Mr. Tai is currently an independent non-executive director of
Niche-Tech Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tai is a son of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman of the Group and an executive director of the Company and
the brother of Mr. Tai Chun Leung, the vice chairman of the Group
and an executive director of the Company.

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

A R AT P BB R A ()

PuAT S (A7)

W R B > 4558 > H 22— )UFE— A RIMEAR
) Z AT T AR [ R > T A A A ) A
SR 2 3 e J5 ot KRB 2 otAb o BB A R SR I
A e B R 5 R B T T A B A6 e R 2 v L
KREVHRHER L BAL o TR MAA LB Z BT > WA E
T B B B AT AR o R UL\NEE SR
— AR MEAGE I TAEW R R R E R
SRR A A W) 2 BUAT o A 4 ) 2 )y B R A A
B o WG AR SR R - B - BB - S -
85~ B R i B U L R AR o R AR
B R B A AT R e 2 S AR A
F AT R VY YN AR A A R AT
BB Z L -

KRFERE > 645% > A —JuL AR LA I AEA A
Rl ZHATE S o R AR 2 E R
TR 45 A5 ) A B R B 4 o SO A A IR U T i R
T8 30 K B2 2 v LA e B AL o [ IRE R O o
N AWt WA E o W R A 5 Y A
W5 > ST B Rt A R Z AR o SO A
UL AR IOAAC SR [ o A TR R A DU O 4 T 2
T#ESH -

BORBEEAE > 375 > A “F =4I BIHERA
F AT S o WG A £ BUACAR MR IR SR % 9t
J& o WG R AU T OK B TR AT B (SRR ) B
BAL o P HAT SR R B - R R ST 0K
BIRER o W BN T — AR IMAARE M o I R
5% VU 4R ) 2 3 o AR RSB R AT o o W AR B
RSB EEARAFT Z B RTESR > &%
A Z BBy A BTGEM bl o S48 2k Ry AR 42 1
Ji BT O T e 2 BT B AR [ R e
ARNFPATEFRE R EZNE -

—E-EEER | BRAAGREERARAT



Report of the Directors
EEERE

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 59, has been an executive director of the
Company since August 1992. Mr. Tse is responsible for the food
quality control of the Group. He has extensive experience in food
manufacturing and factory production management. Mr. Tse joined the
Group in 1980. He is also the managing director of Hong Kong Ham
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of FSMHL.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Kay Cheung, aged 73, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since October 1995. He is
the Vice Chairman of The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited and
possesses extensive knowledge and experience in the banking industry.
Mr. Chan is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers,
a member of the Committee of Overseers of Lee Woo Sing College,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a member of Unionpay
International Advisory Group. Mr. Chan is also an independent
non-executive director of China Electronics Huada Technology
Company Limited, Chu Kong Shipping Enterprises (Group) Company
Limited and SOCAM Development Limited, companies whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan ceased
to be an independent non-executive director of Dah Chong Hong
Holdings Limited, previously a listed company in Hong Kong, upon its
privatization in January 2020.

Mr. LAN Yee Fong, Steve John, aged 79, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since January 1998. He was
the chairman of Evergreen Consultants Limited, president of Swire
Insurance Limited and chairman of Zurich Financial Services Group,
Hong Kong. Currently, Mr. Lan is the chairman of The Hong Kong
Tuberculosis, Chest and Heart Diseases Association, the chairman of
the Hospital Governing Committee of Grantham Hospital, a member
of the Hospital Governing Committees of Ruttonjee Hospital and Tang
Shiu Kin Hospital, and a member of the management committee of
Freni Care and Attention Home. He is a graduate of The University of
Hong Kong and a fellow of The Chartered Insurance Institute. Mr. Lan
has extensive experience in the insurance industry with intensive
involvement in corporate development.

Mr. CHEUNG Wing Choi, aged 65, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since August 2016.
Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Information Processing from University of Queensland
in Australia. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants in the United Kingdom and
a Chartered Global Management Accountant. He has over 30 years
of professional and commercial experience both in Hong Kong and
Australia.
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Senior Management

Ms. CHENG Ming Fong, aged 45, is the financial controller
and company secretary of the Company, responsible for finance,
accounting and company secretarial affairs, she has over 20 years
of working experience in the field of finance and accounting. Prior
to joining the Group, she had worked for several publicly listed
companies and multinational corporations. Ms. Cheng holds a master
degree in Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. She joined
the Group in 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 82%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to 58%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in
compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The following continuing connected transactions are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule 14A of the
Listing Rules, and the respective amount has not exceeded the relevant
annual cap as disclosed in the announcement dated 21 September
2018.
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Report of the Directors
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Purchase of premium beef and beef products

On 21 September 2018, the Company entered into a master supply
agreement (the “Master Supply Agreement”) with Kamichiku Holdings
Co., Ltd. (the “Supplier”) for the Group’s purchase of premium beef
and beef products from the Supplier and/or its subsidiaries for a period
of three financial years ending 31 March 2021.

As the Supplier is interested in 40% of FS-Kamichiku Company
Limited, a 60% held non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, the
Supplier is a connected person at the subsidiary level of the Company
and the entering into of the Master Supply Agreement constitutes
continuing connected transactions for the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the continuing connected transaction were disclosed
in the announcement dated 21 September 2018.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the amount paid by the Group to
the Supplier for the purchase of premium beef and beef products was
approximately HK$13,996,000 which did not exceed the annual cap
for 2020 of HK$16 million.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions in relation to the
purchases of premium beef and beef products set out above and have
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i1) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
March 2020 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, other significant related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 set
out in the note 32 to the financial statements included transactions that
constitute continuing connected transactions and are fully exempt from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of
this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting system and internal control procedures. The audit committee
comprises the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and work of the audit committee is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2020
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RRE -HERERKS

INTRODUCTION TO REPORTING

The Group presents its fourth Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) report, which has been prepared in accordance with ESG
Reporting Guidelines set out in Appendix 27 of Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). This report presents relevant ESG policies
and information, covering the financial year ended 31 March 2020
(“FY2019”).

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

In this financial year, the Group continues to remain focused on its
main operational activities including investment holding, frozen meats
trading, and restaurant operations.

This year has brought challenges in a stringent overseas supply of
frozen meats, and the global COVID-19 pandemic. In light of this,
the Group has actively responded to the impact on the local and
global food industry by implementing strategies to maintain business
continuity, further develop relationships with suppliers, as well as
strengthen the Group’s stance on corporate social responsibility.

SCOPE AND BOUNDARY OF ESG REPORT

This ESG report covers the Group’s main operational activities, based
in Hong Kong.

To facilitate the assessment and review of the Group’s continual ESG
performance and development, our reporting aspects are revisited and
discussed by the management team and key stakeholders on a regular
basis.

Stakeholder engagement was conducted to reassess the Stock
Exchange’s reporting aspects and to identify possible changes in ESG
priorities so as to align with the Group’s objectives and operations
during this reporting year. A Summary of ESG Aspect Coverage is
provided at the end of this ESG report, which demonstrates our current
level of reporting in line with the Stock Exchange reporting guide.
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OUR ESG AGENDA

Regardless of challenges faced within the industry, the Group
continues to strive for environmental, social and governance
development by strengthening our core values and enhancing our
practices.

The Group continues to put effort into making environmentally
and socially conscious decisions in all aspects of operations. We
endeavour to create a circular economy that maximises the value of
natural resources. We believe it is our corporate social responsibility
to safeguard food quality for our customers, especially through
the outbreak of African Swine Fever in the pork industry and the
COVID-19 pandemic across the globe. To help provide our customers
with extra assurance during this time, we have implemented stricter
food safety compliance verification processes to ensure the stringent
quality standards that our brand prides itself on. For example, we have
specifically requested that our suppliers provide declaration letters
from the manufacturing facilities certifying that the meat products are
free from any virus-contamination, in addition to the health certificates
issued by the export countries’ government authorities. This year,
many of our planned community activities have been postponed
to protect our employees’ health and safety during the COVID-19
pandemic, but the Group is looking forward to continuing our social
agenda efforts in supporting our society and charities in the near
future.

FOCUS ON ENVIRONMENT

As global warming and extreme weather intensifies, easing the
anthropogenic impact on the environment becomes the responsibility
of all. The Group understands the importance of taking steps towards
“Green” operations, and is heartily committed to complying with
all relevant environmental regulations for our administrative and
restaurant operations.

FY2019 PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

Annual Totals
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Intensity (Per Unit of Product)

AR AU BE HE (Dgaatyhshsg)
Carbon Emissions 203 tCO,-¢ 0.51 kgCO,-¢
AR BT 203 M AL B 0.51F 3 A bk &
Electricity 395,011 kWh 0.99 kWh
wh 395,01 1T FL I 0.99F B
Gas 7,834 units of Towngas 0.02 units of Towngas
R 7,834 B 0.02 1R,
Water 1,352 m? 338 L
K 1,35232 05 % 33847
Waste 13.75 t 0.034 kg
g 13.75M§ 0.034T-5%
Units of Product 399,903 units N/A
i e LA 399,903 i
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RRE -HERERKS

ELECTRICITY

The Group actively promotes the concept of energy saving and smart
energy usage during operations. We encourage our colleagues to
adopt energy saving practices on a daily basis, such as switching off
computers and lights before leaving the office, and setting an indoor
temperature of 24°C during business hours. We strive for conscious
decision-making to ensure responsible choices in our equipment
selection and disposal. When we retrofit our systems and equipment,
we assess and prioritise options with higher energy efficiency and
boast energy efficiency labels. For example, in our office operations,
we have chosen high efficiency fluorescent tubes which provide higher
energy savings.

This year, electricity consumption for our operations has been the
major source of carbon emissions, accounting for 97% of the Group’s
total emissions.

@

A 5% A 7 7 T v 455 1 4 B R~ O W) R Ry
& o BRAM B R A H O B RE AL 04T > Bl
A Bfe PR 2 5 T R 9 S G S R o DA R A A S R
AR S PR Y 24°C o BRAM VT AR H TR BRI A PR
R HEDR B AL MR M B B R o R R
i iRE > TAM RE Al B 45 S 228 4% EL A v i VK A 3 B
A RE VR A A A o il FRAAEI AR
TR 280G A DL B A0 B 2 BB U

AAEFE 5 FAM 4 5E 0 AR AL R R R
FEARYE > Al A4 3 48 Bk ik 597 %

Electricity and Gas Consumption in FY2019
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WASTE

In Hong Kong, waste generation is a notorious environmental issue
that needs to be addressed and alleviated. The Group’s two major
sources of waste production are daily administrative activities which
generates general office waste, and restaurant operations which
produce food waste and waste cooking oil.

We have carefully identified our sources of waste production and are
continuously examining possible ways to lower our waste generation.
Our administrative operations have implemented paperless operations
such as e-fax. We have existing relationships with registered recyclers
to collect and recycle used toner cartridges from our office. We also
support the Government’s Producer Responsibility Scheme on Waste
Electrical and Electronic Equipment to properly dispose of our waste
electrical and electronic equipment at licensed recycling facilities to
minimise the associated environmental impacts generated by e-waste.
The Group’s restaurant ensures that all generated waste cooking oil is
collected and stored, and hauled by a registered recycler on monthly
basis. In this reporting year, we have properly disposed of 0.69 tonnes
of waste cooking oil.

RIR - HERERBKSE
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RRE -HERERKS

WATER

We are ever conscious of the global concerns on freshwater depletion
and we encourage sensible use of water from all employees. The
Group’s major sources of water consumption include administrative
functions and restaurant operations, totalling approximately 113m3
per month. We advocate for the importance of efficient water use
among employees by raising their awareness in water saving. We are
continuing to take steps towards investigating possible water-saving
measures in terms of operational change and water-saving equipment
installations.

PEOPLE ARE PRIORITY

Our people are crucial to our business success. We are committed to
ensuring a pleasant, encouraging workplace for our employees, which
we believe promotes staff well-being, fulfilment, and dedication to
deliver the quality that the Group’s brand prides itself on. We also
support the community where we live and work, and understand that
the impact of our business expands far beyond the boundary of our
environment.

EMPLOYMENT

The Group ensures all the Company’s policies and procedures are
implemented in accordance to Labour Legislation including the
Employment Ordinance and Employees’ Compensation Ordinance.
We are committed to providing an equal opportunity, fair and just
working environment for our employees by implementing annual
performance appraisals to review our employee career development
and remuneration packages. We also strive to ensure that mutual
understanding is built between the management team and employees
on the Group’s core value and principles.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We provide opportunities to our employees to improve their skillsets
and capabilities, and we culture an atmosphere with work-life balance
to recognise the importance of health and well-being within the
workforce. We encourage employees at all levels to participate in an
array of training courses, from stress management to work-related
skills. We also recognise staff who are committed to the Group and
those who demonstrate exceptional performance by presenting awards
on an annual basis.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

Ensuring health and safety measures within all aspects of our
operations provides our employees with a sense of security and
well-being. We set out guidelines and adhere to policies that provide
preventative measures to minimise health and safety risks around our
premises and within our operations. We keep track of health and safety
related incidents and ensure corrective measures are implemented
to prevent reoccurrences. The Group is proud to report our second
consecutive year with zero work-related injuries or fatalities.

The Group ensured the undertaking of precautionary measures during
the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, such as mandatory daily
temperature checks before entering the office, the required use of
facemasks while in the office, and availability of hand sanitiser around
the office.

PRODUCT AND SUPPLY CHAIN

Adherence to strict quality standards is essential within the food
industry. In the wake of African Swine Fever, which has affected
the global pork industry since the beginning of 2019, we have
implemented stricter food safety compliance verification processes, to
ensure the highest quality products from our suppliers. The Group only
partners with ethical suppliers that are environmentally and socially
responsible, and known for commitment to product safety and supply
process standards and regulations. All of our imported frozen products
are permitted by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department,
which requires periodic inspections with food sample selections to
ensure the quality and safety of our products for distribution.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

Placing a strong emphasis on integrity at the core of our business
guides the way we operate, and the Group has zero-tolerance to
any form of bribery and corruption. Strictly abiding by all local
regulations, we have established internal policies to prohibit our
employees from soliciting any advantages from our clients, suppliers
and contractors. This year, anti-corruption training sessions held by
ICAC have been arranged for all supervisors and senior management
to ensure our operations align with the latest anti-corruption standards
and regulations.

CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY

We believe it is our corporate responsibility to give back and to
support people who share the community with us. The Group places
value on the community through efforts in supporting charities and
youth programs. The Group is looking forward to continuing our
efforts in supporting our society and charities in the near future.
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RE - #HBRERKRSE

SUMMARY OF ESG ASPECT COVERAGE

Environment

By

ESG JiF i 7 2wt 2

Reporting Aspect
e e i

Description

il 3t

FY2019 Report Coverage

SR Jul A B R

Aspect Al: Emissions

JEmiAL : BT

General Disclosure

— M

KPI Al.1
S IR AL

KPI A1.2
P S A IR AEA L2
KPI A1.3

I OB AR B AL

KPI A1.4

I OB R ALLA

KPI Al.5
P S IR IEA LS

KPI A1.6

P S AR AR TR BEALLG

Policies

B

The types of emissions and respective emissions data

T 4 T 350 B A B g ot

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes of
CO,¢) and where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility)

T % SRR AR PR i i (DA R SRR BT K&
(i Fi) ) %65 B2 (4 DA s ek B ~ 9 O o i
)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
production volume, per facility)

Pt E HE A e A (DAMERHAE) K (ani )
B RE (o VAR s B WAL ~ 0 R )

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
production volume, per facility)

JIT A I g S AR (DM & (Wi AT
% P (hn DL e B LAY - RO R4

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and
results achieved

3 8 ol 6K P e 2 4 5 O e O A R

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved

ke i PR T % S 0 U 5~ DA 2R
B A B P A8 R

x Not applicable; the Group’s operations do not
generate hazardous waste.

A 5 A4
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SUMMARY OF ESG ASPECT COVERAGE (continued)

Environment (continued)

B (50

RIR - HERERBKSE

ESG ) i 7 25 B2 ()

Reporting Aspect
A% e i

Description

il 3t

FY2019 Report Coverage
T U AR B R

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

JE A2 ¢ % WA

General Disclosure

— 4 R

KPI A2.1

P S A AR FR A2

KPI A2.2
P S A AR TR A2 .2
KPI A2.3
] 4 A AR HR R A2 3
KPI A2.4
P S A AR TR B A2 4
KPI A2.5
] 8 A AR FR R AL 5

Policies

B

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in
‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)

IR o3 0 B K Bk I ER RE R (W08 ~ SRk
i) A8 A6 B (DT T B WRF it 550) B B2 (W L4
A i LA~ R IE B R )

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility)

RERE K B e 5 B (A R LA ~ R0 B
)

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives
and results achieved

30 B DB FH 28 25 T ) B B A4 R

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved

3 7t SR T3 A 2K P T A AT T B > DA SR T
FA 7R 2 25 w3 R BT e R

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes), and if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced

BB B P B S R B B (DA W53 & (i
) A AR A LA AN R

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

JEWA3 : BRBE R KR E W

General Disclosure

— M i

KPI A3.1

] o A AR FR BE A1

Policies

B

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

T 7t S 5 H BRI e RARE IR RSB B R TR
B BLAT B S BT B

v

v

v

v

v

x Not applicable, the Group’s operations do not
involve product manufacture or packaging.
ANGE T > A SR 0 Y 7 VL S B0 A 7 e A6 E i o

v

v
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SUMMARY OF ESG ASPECT COVERAGE (continued) ESG i i % 25 B 2 ()
Social

e

Reporting Aspect Description FY2019 Report Coverage

W e i i it T U AR B R
Aspect B1: Employment

JE B : IR B

General Disclosure  Policies v

— i B BUR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
B2 ¢ fHE R K A

General Disclosure  Policies 4

— ik % B

Aspect B3: Development and Training
Je B3 : %R Ko Bl

General Disclosure  Policies 4

— ik % B

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEWiB4 : 57 T HEH

General Disclosure  Policies 4

— ik % B

Aspect BS: Supply Chain Management
Fe i BS ¢ 3% HE 9 45 A

General Disclosure  Policies 4
— BUR

Aspect B6: Product

JEWEB6 : A

General Disclosure  Policies 4
— BUR

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

JEWB7 : R &5

General Disclosure  Policies 4
— BUR

Aspect B8: Community Investment

JE mBS : M W B &

General Disclosure  Policies 4
— BUR
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Annual Report™).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below
Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance practices are
essential to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of corporate governance and complied with most
of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) with the exception of code
provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code, details are set out below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor
performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to
the management which include the day-to-day business operation of
the Group, execution of corporate strategies, approval of business
and financial plans and budgets and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and the financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report

ERERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises eight directors consisting of five
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board
and Board’s Committees as at 31 March 2020:

#gE (4
wHAAS

ANV ZEE G\ L EFHER > LA %A
B SARBLIEATES -

RERZRE=A=Z4—H > ERALRERLTHY
Z IR B R H O T A

Board of Directors

W

Executive directors

HAIT#EHH

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
WY ()

TAI Chun Leung (Vice Chairman)
WS R (F L)

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)

SCIK AR (A AR PE)
TAI Chun Kit

R A

TSE Siu Wan

O E

Independent non-executive directors
B LI THEH

CHAN Kay Cheung

B B

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John

BRIy

CHEUNG Wing Choi

kA

Company Secretary
2l

CHENG Ming Fong*
R D5+

Audit Committee

HHEHG

CHAN Kay Cheung (Chairman)
BRBLE (L)

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John

LoE i)

CHEUNG Wing Choi

[1:3 -

Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee
HMERE RHERA

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John (Chairman) TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
BRIy (EH) WA (M)

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis
wE SCIRFE

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis CHAN Kay Cheung
SO BRAL

CHAN Kay Cheung LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
BB [ pi)

CHEUNG Wing Choi CHEUNG Wing Choi
R R

* Ms. Cheng Ming Fong was appointed as financial controller and company
secretary of the Company on 1 September 2019.

L LR ZFIEILA - HERERARAF
Z B R R A E R

R 4% S T A R AR O A4 R o R

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships
among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of
this Annual Report.

N TH R R AR A B e
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as
other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2020 and the attendance record of each director at the said
Board meetings and the general meetings of the Company is set out
below:

Corporate Governance Report
ERERBE

#gE (4

o

Bk A R A

S AR A YT PR o I T AR 4 ] R

SR~ B2 A WO B R ) e AR R A AR
Ho At TR 5 o

FHERBREZ_FE=A=1THILEEHMN
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Number of meetings attended/held

R BT R B
Regular Annual
Board Meetings General Meeting
Name of directors A 0 ) fr ok JBe R AR K 1
Executive directors HArsEH
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) WE (F5) 4/4 1/1
TAI Chun Leung (Vice Chairman) WER (AEE) 4/4 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) SCIRFE (3 FH A AEPH) 4/4 1/1
TAI Chun Kit W 4/4 1/1
TSE Siu Wan A E 4/4 /1
Independent non-executive directors W AT
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 4/4 1/1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BR 4/4 0/1
CHEUNG Wing Choi [ ¥ 4/4 1/1

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
company secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
or committee members for their comments within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’
inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. Appointments are first considered by
the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the Nomination
Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details in respect
of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to select
and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the section
headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance
Report.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest one-third but not less
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. Currently, all independent non-executive directors of
the Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association. As
such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.
Every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, any director appointed
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.
The Board considers that such a deviation is not material as a casual
vacancy seldom appears and interval between the appointment made
to fill casual vacancy and the immediate following annual general
meeting is short.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. From time to time during the year
under review, relevant reading materials on corporate governance,
regulatory developments and changes of accounting standards and
other topics relevant to the Company’s business and director’s duties
and responsibilities have been given to the directors of the Company.
In addition, some directors have been provided with in-house training
and attended seminars and workshops which are relevant to their work
and responsibilities so as to update their technical knowledge and
professional skills during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) HPE (4)

W2 R RHR R ()
Participation by individual directors in continuous professional T[] BRAR BE N 2 B i BB I 2 ) SRS N

development during the year under review is summarised below: mmE e

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development (continued)

Types of training

Name of directors WHE A ekl
Executive directors HA7FHEHF

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) AR () B,C
TAI Chun Leung (Vice Chairman) BB R (AR B,C
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) SCIK A (A A PE) A, B, C
TAI Chun Kit W A,B,C
TSE Siu Wan A E A,B,C
Independent non-executive directors B AT H

CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B A, C
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [:5F i) A, C
CHEUNG Wing Choi [ ¥ A, C
A - Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums A — WERIHRE R E S wE w

B - Attending in-house training sessions B — R ER R

C - Reading updates on relevant topics related to corporate C — BB 345G VLS 0 B b B 3 8 2 W okt

governance/regulatory update

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Man Wing Cheung,
Ellis holds the positions of Chairman and Managing Director
respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and
set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. He is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions
from the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors, representing one-third
of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director
in respect of his independence and the Company is of the view that
all the existing independent non-executive directors are independent
under the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules up to the date of this Annual Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which are available to shareholders upon
request. The terms of reference of the Board committees are also
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung (Chairman
of Audit Committee), Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and Mr. Cheung
Wing Choi.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee were updated and adopted
by the Company in December 2018 pursuant to the amendments to CG
Code and Corporate Governance Report as contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules relating to an extension of a cooling off period for
a former partner of the Company’s existing auditing firm before he/she
can be a member of the Company’s Audit Committee from one year to
two years, which was effective from 1 January 2019.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting system and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and review significant financial
reporting judgements, to maintain an appropriate relationship with the
Company’s external auditor and to oversee the audit process.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2020 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2019 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2020 of the Group.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
out below:
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Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Audit Committee members BEHRZEGNH AR B BTk Y
CHAN Kay Cheung (Chairman of Audit Committee) BRMLE (FHZ B &L 5) 2/2
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John Wi 2/2
CHEUNG Wing Choi RAEA 2/2
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and is currently constituted by three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee), Mr. Chan Kay Cheung and
Mr. Cheung Wing Choi and two executive directors, namely Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for the remuneration of all directors and senior management
and the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior
management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee has convened one meeting during
the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and
structure; the remuneration packages of all directors and senior
management by reference to the individuals’ performance, skills and
knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities, and performance
and profitability of the Group, and the service contracts of the
directors for the year under review. Details of the remuneration of
each director of the Company are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the
year are set out below:

Corporate Governance Report
ERERBE

HEREZHT (A)
HMERA

Wi 2 5 O AL r 3 DL T AT W R A T b
B > Bl E Wi =AM IR T E R R
(FrZ B &3 0) ~ BRABLE ek iR &4 e i 5L
A 45 BUAT 38 % P8 B o A % SCOR R e A ALK -

AN W PR A3 T 2 B 1 Sk i ) AT o
o A BN B 2 T AL 4 R R A A o
T 2% B 17 2 32 BERE B A AR A\ T A M A
BN B Z W4 > DA B A 2wl 31 3 o % o A0 BN
BB G > i F gl a RA RN w2 BOR K
IR -

Hr I 2 B A 0] AR B 9 8 B Ok o AR (O
HEL ) AR 55 T 2 S T SR R A > DA% 2 75
AR B~ BRR R - BT BRI ] R BT SR AR AR
EERBIHBRNGES > FHEWEES LHATHEA
B4 > IR AN ERRB AR - A
O ) 4% R T A AT S R A R RS o

AR EH N BB R B Z Rl s

Number of meeting attended/held

Name of Remuneration Committee members FMZEAEERAAR W BT B
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [y

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (FFWZEAR & L) 1/1
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen HEa 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCKHE 1/1
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAE B 1/1
CHEUNG Wing Choi REEA 1/1

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration of individual of
the senior management, not being the director of the Company, by
band is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) S TN 4L 0 (W)

BEZFREZ] = HIRERE > JFERA L
AEFZ RN AT AR ZHMALN T

Number of Person

A¥

Nil to 1,000,000 £ %1,000,000

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and currently comprises two executive directors,
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of Nomination
Committee) and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, and three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee
Fong, Steve John and Mr. Cheung Wing Choi.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board
diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has convened one meeting during the
year to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assess the independence of the independent non-executive directors of
the Company.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year
are set out below:
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Number of meeting attended/held

Name of Nomination Committee members RHEZBANBEHW B R AR
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s

(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (REZEGTERF) 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis K 1/1
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 1/1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [:5E-yi) 1/1
CHEUNG Wing Choi REEA 1/1
Nomination Policy BB

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the guidelines and procedures for the Nomination
Committee to consider and make recommendations to the Board for
the appointment of the Director.

The factors listed below would be used as guidelines in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate:

(a) reputation for integrity;
(b) accomplishment and experience in the industry;

(c) commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

(e) other factors that the Nomination Committee may consider
appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information together with their written consents to be appointed
as Directors. The Nomination Committee may request proposed
candidates to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary. The secretary of the Nomination Committee
shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval. The ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, at any
time as appropriate or at least annually, to ensure the effectiveness of
the Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The
Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the
Board of the Company. Under the Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service when
reviewing and assessing the Board composition. The Nomination
Committee has assessed the composition of the Board against these
aspects and has come to the conclusion that it is a balanced board of
directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities Transaction
by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by the
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Code
by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2020.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2020. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Ernst
& Young (“EY”), are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of
this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

External Auditor’s Remuneration

EY have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2019 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, fees paid or payable to EY
amounted to approximately HK$1,210,000 (2019: HK$1,150,000)
for audit and related services and approximately HK$189,200 (2019:
HK$716,500) for other non-audit services which include the taxation
services.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibilities for maintaining
adequate risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems, including the strategies, policies and
expectations on the oversight, have been designed to manage rather
than to eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s business
objectives. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

Risk management and internal control systems are designed and put
in place with a view to safeguard the Group’s assets and business
operations. In order to successfully implement, support and sustain the
risk management process, the Group has taken into account the factors
including risk-aware culture, risk prioritisation, as well as allocation
of roles and responsibilities. The systems are featured with defined
organisational and management structure with authorities properly
delegated to qualified personnel from different management levels
within the Group.

The regular monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems is mainly conducted by the delegated executive directors
and senior management. With the oversight of the Audit Committee,
the delegated executive directors lead the senior management in
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Executive directors of the Company determine the business strategies
and objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks the Group is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and therefore are accountable for the effectiveness
of the risk management.

Senior management from different departments identifies and
evaluates the risks which may potentially impact the major business
processes, including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security, monitors the risks and
takes measures to mitigate risks in daily operations.

Periodic meetings are held between the delegated executive directors
and senior management. Standing instructions have been provided to
management of the Group that if any material issue relating to risk
management and internal control systems that may have or have had
a material impact on the business of the Group arise, it should be
reported on a timely basis.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

Internal control procedures are designed to protect the Group’s assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used for business decision or publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement. The internal audit function
reviews the major operational, financial and compliance controls and
risk management function on a continuing basis to cover the major
operations of the Group.

The delegated executive directors and senior management have
reported to the Board the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year under review. The Board has
reviewed the effectiveness of the systems including the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions and considers that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group are effective
and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling inside information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheng Ming Fong is the Company Secretary of the Company.
During the year under review, Ms. Cheng undertook at least 15 hours
of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening a General Meeting/Right to call a General Meeting

General meetings may be convened by the directors on requisition of
Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings or by
such Shareholder(s) who has made the requisition (as the case may
be) pursuant to Sections 566 and 568 respectively of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance™). Shareholders should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening an
extraordinary general meeting.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s
website at http://www.hongkongfoodinvestment.com.hk.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings/Right to Circulate
Resolution at Annual General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholders
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders;
or at least 50 shareholders (as the case may be) who have a right to
vote at the relevant annual general meeting, may request to circulate
a resolution to be moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders
should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual general
meeting.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Company’s
registered office at 2905-07, 29/F., Manhattan Place, No. 23 Wang Tai
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly current practices of the Company for communication with
its shareholders. Such policy aims at disseminating information in
relation to the Group to Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, and is reviewed regularly by the Board
to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at http:/www.hongkongfoodinvestment.com.hk
as a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public
access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the Shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the Shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward
at Shareholder meetings including the annual general meeting will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
after each Shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with
the aims to set out the general principles and guidelines that the
Company intends to apply in relation to the payment of dividend to
the shareholders of the Company. The Board may propose the payment
of dividends, in any financial year, if any, with respect to the shares
of the Company on a per share basis, either by way of cash or Shares
that the Board considers appropriate. The declaration and payment
of interim dividends and final dividends (subject to the approval by
the Shareholders in an annual general meeting) shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board which will take into
account of the following factors when considering the payment of
dividends:

(a) the financial results of the Group;

(b) the Shareholders’ interest;

(c) general financial condition of the Group;
(d) current and future operations of the Group;
(e) liquidity position of the Group;

(f) capital requirements of the Group;

(g) compliance with applicable rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company; and

(h) any other factors that the Board may deem relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Policy at any time.
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Ernst & Young ZXEF =R AT
ﬁ* 22/F, CITIC Tower EBTRRAEZEIS
1 Tim Mei Avenue RiERE221E ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

To the members of
Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to 140, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Accounting for investments in associates
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group held 29.98% of the issued shares in
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), an entity listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
As at 31 March 2020, the investments in this listed associate and its
subsidiaries amounted to HK$406,093,000 and the share of net losses
of them amounted to HK$5,940,000 for the year then ended.
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The investments in associates were accounted for under the equity
method and the accounting for the share of net assets and share
of net losses of the associates was significant to our audit due to
their contribution to the Group's consolidated financial position and
consolidated financial performance, respectively. During the process
of equity accounting, management evaluated the financial results and
accounting estimates of FSMHL and its subsidiaries. In addition, at
the end of the reporting period, management assessed any impairment
required for the investments in the associates.
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Our audit procedures included, among other things,
instructing the component audit team of FSMHL to
perform an audit on the relevant financial information
of FSMHL for the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. We discussed the
risk assessment and audit strategy with the component
team, reviewed their workpapers and obtained their
audit conclusion before issuance of the Group's
audited financial statements. Also, we checked to the
calculation made by management under the equity
method of accounting for investments in associates.
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Accounting for investments in associates (continued)
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Due to the significance of the investments in associates and the
estimation uncertainty involved in the accounting for the investments,
this area is identified as a key audit matter.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15 to the financial
statements.
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To evaluate the Group’s impairment assessment, we
assessed the indication of impairment of FSMHL as
at the end of the reporting period. We have obtained
the discounted cashflow projection of FSMHL and its
subsidiaries. We reviewed the discounted cashflow
forecast and performed sensitivity analysis. We then
compared the recoverable amount from the discounted
cashflow projection with the carrying amount.
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Recoverability of trade receivables
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group had trade receivables of
HK$19,010,000 and allowance for impairment of HK$9,040,000.
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Management used a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables. The matrix is initially based
on the Group’s historical default rates, and specific factors that
management considered in the estimation of the rates including the
type of customers, ageing of the balances and recent historical payment
patterns. Management then calibrated the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information, such as
forecasted economic conditions. We focused on this area because it
requires a high level of management’s judgement and estimates and due
to the materiality of the amounts involved.
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The significant accounting judgements and estimates and disclosures
for trade receivables are included in notes 3 and 17 to the financial
statements.
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We tested the controls over the Group’s collection
procedures and the Group’s estimation of expected
credit losses.
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We evaluated the appropriateness of the allowance
for impairment recognised taking into account the
historical cash collection trend, subsequent settlements,
ageing analysis of the trade receivables and evaluated
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current local economic environment
and forward-looking information, and considered
the adequacy of the Group's disclosure about the
estimation uncertainty involved in arriving at the
allowance amount.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZHERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT B Bkl 0 % i kA T S R R I 0 A ()
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have BMBRFZZEFGRREY > SiWRMOKFEH
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence 6 2 7 1 P R B B S A R > 3 B A A W
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 6 A B b e 52 % 7 5 B AP A S 4 B A BRAR R
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where fib 25 3E 5 DL S AE I R R UL T > AH B Y B A o

applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we TEHL AL ZE B Wi Je I b > JRAM i o I 2t g 0
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit AW AR M B R EN R I Sy T > PR R
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and BEE TR IE o TRAM AL AZ Bl B kS S R

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our IR B HE B BU R Ao F A B 8 8 S R E > B A
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure FERMBUUT » A A A B b i R
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we TR A R Y T AR R A A R A 0 B
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report EARELRE P EZEE -

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent H FL AR S A B B R H AR BRI o
auditor’s report is Chan Sai Yu.

Ernst & Young B K 1 kB 3 BE
Certified Public Accountants S ES o]

Hong Kong R

29 June 2020 TRIREANH A
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEmK

Year ended 31 March 2020 EE=—Z=-ZF=F=+—HILFE

2020 2019
TR ORI RN
Notes HK$’000 HKS$’000
Mt BT BT

REVENUE A 5 140,048 151,102
Cost of sales 8B AR (126,063) (136,588)
Gross profit B 13,985 14,514
Other income and gains, net H AW A KWz - FH# 5 6,076 206,793
Selling and distribution expenses s Ko e (10,297) (9.819)
Administrative expenses AT BUBA 3 (26,222) (30,283)
Finance costs Tl B AR 6 (1,618) (2,184)
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A Bt 2 A ) s A B g 1R (5,940) 9,044
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 1 B8 Wi B A, O 4) 7 (24,016) 188,065
Income tax credit/(expense) Fi S Bk e, (B %) 10 (40) 161
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AAERR A, OEH) (24,056) 188,226
Attributable to: BB A .

Equity holders of the Company Ay wBE RS A B (24,111) 188,050

Non-controlling interests I e e HE A 55 176

(24,056) 188,226
HK cents HK cents
A A

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AN BRI H

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY WA R e B A, Ol )

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

COMPANY

— Basic and diluted — 3 A il 11 (9.29) 72.44
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEERER

Year ended 31 March 2020 §E=—Z=-ZTF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
R RAE e SRS
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT B o
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AR R A Ol 1) (24,056) 188,226
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS F A 2 i i 4
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified o A A% J1 T P 8 R 4
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: AR A Al 2 S AR
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates, Ay W 5 2 ) L At 4 i s 4 -
net of tax B B 1% (17,508) (19,518)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign P 5530 A1 S 1 E S 25
operations (42) (590)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR A AR B G i 2 i S 4 > BRBEAR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (17,550) (20,108)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)  A4EEMAEm KA~ OEH)
FOR THE YEAR (41,606) 168,118
Attributable to: BB
Equity holders of the Company AN FIRER TR & (41,661) 167,942
Non-controlling interests I ¥ I HE 2 55 176
(41,606) 168,118
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI R

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

2020 2019
TR TR R A
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wik 5 T 38 1 T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I )
Property, plant and equipment L/E B & ] 12 28,440 17,442
Right-of-use assets 3 FRE & 7 13(a) 18,347 -
Investments in associates RS AR Z B 15 406,093 445,032
Prepayments and deposits TEAT SR E K AT 4 18 1,406 999
Goodwill [ 14 2,103 2,103
Financial assets at fair value AT EBEBERZARNY
through profit or loss 4 Rl E B 19 1,300 1,300
Total non-current assets IR A 457,689 466,876
CURRENT ASSETS R ) %
Inventories TE 16 27,450 36,422
Trade receivables HE W B 5 ik K 17 9,970 20,251
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FHATZKIE ~ 51 4 B 2L Ath 8 We 3k S 18 1,283 1,171
Due from associates JRE WA B 2 A ) 15 235 90
Financial assets at fair value A FEBE R ARY
through profit or loss 4 & 19 6,106 3,979
Tax recoverable w Wi el A JE 41 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEE&SMEEH 20 154,389 175,590
Total current assets it ) B E AR 199,474 237,503
CURRENT LIABILITIES i By £1 4%
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 MR B 5 21 4,694 7,790
Other payables and accruals U Al I A 5K I % M AR 22 4,416 4,853
Due to associates A W 42 2\ W) 15 144 35
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JRE A I 472 1B Bk 3R 32(b) 3,128 2,507
Tax payable JE A BRI S -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT RS Z SRAT B 23 20,469 37,527
Lease liabilities HEAM 13(b) 4,846 -
Total current liabilities it B B R AR 37,702 52,712
NET CURRENT ASSETS R ) 2 7 v 161,772 184,791
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 8 DR B £ 4
LIABILITIES 619,461 651,667
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES I ) £ 4%
Accruals JE w1 AR 22 100 235
Lease liabilities HEAM 13(b) 14,631 -
Total non-current liabilities I By A 14,731 235
Net assets ¥ E T # 604,730 651,432
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR R

31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

2020 2019
R R “EJuiE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M itk YT BT T
EQUITY L E
Equity attributable to equity holders i B 7 AR 2 W) B 2%
of the Company P A5 0 B A

Share capital Jie A 25 117,095 117,095
Reserves it 4t 27 484,584 531,247
601,679 648,342
Non-controlling interests Ik B BE 2% 3,051 3,090
Total equity HE 25 48 {8 604,730 651,432

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ &%
Director H#H

m HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2020

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3¢ k¥
Director H#H



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERBREER

Year ended 31 March 2020 EE=—Z=-ZF=F=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARTRE 6Kl
Share of
Exchange other Non-
Share fluctuation reserves of Retained controlling Total
capital reserve associates profits Total interests equity
Heth
[EdT B# R
R it e REEA e RS 2T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
#WTI #WTT #WTT #WTT #WTT #WTT #HTT
(note 27)
(Wit27)
At 1 April 2018 RZZ—NERA—H 117,095 (690) 29,176 334,148 479,729 2925 482,654
Profit for the year AU BERR - - - 188,050 188,050 176 188,226
Other comprehensive loss for the year: REE A TES -
Share of other comprehensive loss A YT S
of associates, net of tax (i) - - (19518) - (19518) - (19518)
Exchange differences on translation BB ER L ERER
of foreign operations - (590) - - (590) - (590)
Total comprehensive income for the year ARG FEM2 T - (590) (19.518) 188,050 167942 176 168,118
Contribution by non-controlling interests Jte b - - - - - (1 (11
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Yohe A2 HEATZ
of the associates” subsidiaries EZelle Il - - 5 660 671 - 671
Transfer to share of other reserves of associates 4% 2 MEAG & A 7 Z LU Gk 5 - - 1,343 (1543) - - -
At 31 March 2019 REF-NWEZRZ4—H 117,095 (1,280)* 11,206* S2L321% 648,342 3,090 051,432
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 (nore 2.2)  HAEWME R -H F 1682
wEWit22) - - - (4892) (4892) (9%4) (4986)
At T April 2019 (restated) RZF-AENA—H (BEF) 117,095 (1,280) 11,206 516,429 643,450 2,99 046,446
Loss for the year REEER - - - (Q4.111) Q4.111) 55 (24,056)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: RERERLHES :
Share of other comprehensive loss EfBREANLbATER
of associates, net of tax (i) - - (17,50) - (17,508) - (17,508)
Exchange differences on translation BB EBIME L ER
of foreign operations - (42) - - (42) - 42)
Total comprehensive loss for the year REEARTER - ) (17,508) (4,111) (41,661) 55 (41,606)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests of the U & A 7 Z Il 24 2
associates’ subsidiaries Fte i - - - (110) (110) - (110)
Transfer to share of other reserves of associates B8 2 HEAT I & A ] 2 S B - - 28 (28 - - -
At 31 March 2020 RERZREZJ=4-0 117,095 (1322 (6,274 492,180 601,679 3051 604,730
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * FE IR R E A A B R R P Z AR
HK$484,584,000 (2019: HK$531,247,000) in the consolidated statement 484,584,000% 7G (& —JL4F : 531,247,000%78) °

of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2020 §E=—Z=-ZTF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
R RAE e SRS
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M itk YT B o
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BREXRGZBERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax B B8 1 ¥ A, Ol 1) (24,016) 188,065
Adjustments for: Tk T 51 4% JE A o
Finance costs Tl B A% 6 1,618 2,184
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A W 42 A ] e A B i 18 5,940 (9,044)
Bank interest income AT R BB A 5 (2,643) (1,386)
Dividend income from financial assets BAPHEBBERARZ
at fair value through profit or loss 4l A 2 B B 5 (548) (41)
Gain on disposal of items of property, WEWE -~ WK
plant and equipment B E Z W 5 = (374)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary H B — [ B A W) 2 W iR 5 = (203,169)
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets AT HEB BB ARZ
at fair value through profit or loss ERVEEZ A TE
(Wezz) /e 48 5 110 (267)
Depreciation of items of property, W~ BEREEEHEZ
plant and equipment e 7 2,390 2,467
Depreciation of right-of-use assets R E 2 T 5,434 -
Write-down of inventories to WO AE & 2 W 5 B
net realisable value 7 523 -
Write-off of trade receivables s 5 e W R 5 MRk 7 - 86
Impairment of trade receivables JAE W B B MR R A 7 4,136 4,904
(7,056) (16,575)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FRZWA (Bm) 8,449 (11,417)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables WEW & 5 Wk 2 A (8 m) 6,145 (3,574)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEAT R ~ 8T 4 B Al
deposits and other receivables JE WK I Z WA () (491) 408
Movement in balances with associates L& AR Z S5 75 ) (36) 201
Movement in balances with a BRI e PR e R 2 4 T )
non-controlling shareholder 621 2,225
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FEME R R EZ
bills payables Wim i) (3,096) 914
Decrease in other payables A AR R R AU 2
and accruals Pk A (275) (17,323)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BEEHEMRA () 284 4,261 (45,141)
Interest element of lease payments LB A sk 2 F) B 4 (695) -
Hong Kong profit tax paid [ERRERE RSy it (76) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating WBEBZBEHRA (Hd)
activities i 3,490 (45,141)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2020 EE=—Z=-ZF=F=+—HILFE

2020 2019
TR TR R A
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hit BWTFL  EWTT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEBHZBERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received CERAT R S 2,643 1,386
Dividends received from an associate W B I 7 4 6] B 10,947 39,754
Dividends received from listed investments LiigEZ ol s 548 41
Purchases of items of property, plant WEAPE -~ W5 RS IE E
and equipment (13,215) (5,860)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, &M ~ WHEASMHEE Z
plant and equipment J 435K I8 - 565
Purchases of financial assets at fair value WEE A P EBERBRARZ
through profit or loss R (2,237) (3,832)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wt il — 1 L Jeg 2 R 28 - (1,951)
Disposal of a subsidiary Hy B — T K B A ) 29 - 250,000
Net cash flows from/(used in) WEEBEZBHERAGRH)
investing activities PR (1,314) 280,103
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 90 3% ) BT A 2 BL A U R
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans G SR AT B R A RE IR B K 109,759 154,257
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans B9 SR AT B AR e AR wE OB Bk (126,817) (279,291)
Principal portion of lease payments & 3k 2 A 4 356 43 31(b) (5,120) -
Interest paid AR (923) (2,184)
Net cash flows used in financing activities il 5 B 2 B4 I A (23,101) (127,218)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH B&EBE&SfEAZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Bm, (W) 38 (20,925) 107,744
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning R Z B4 R B4 A IH B
of the year 175,590 68,427
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net A fE R 55 B L 2 » F 5 (276) (581)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBEFMEA
AT END OF YEAR 154,389 175,590
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BRERAEFHEALEZ N
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 B RAT B A7 20 49,187 95,319
Time deposits with original maturity of less JHAZMHAR=ZMHAZ
than three months when acquired R WA K 20 105,202 30,271
Cash and cash equivalents B4 B Bl & S {HIE H 154,389 175,590
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 5 B AE

31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. A" REHER
HEWETMBEERERAR ((ARAF] B—
FN T W M or 2 A A o AN F Z5EM
T b ik A R L B U B A 235k
Manhattan Place 29182905-07 °

Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at 2905-07, 29/F.,
Manhattan Place, No. 23 Wang Tai Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

BN AREE 2 EEEFH R F R MR -
e B B AR P A -
A B o MR AT 2 BEEB HRE

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted of
the trading of frozen meats, seafood and vegetables, operation
of restaurant, marketing of meat products and communication
and advertising design. The principal activities of associates are P G RERE MR KR R
investment holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods, i B R KB B K BEAH BH E A > DA R R
confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles, ham and JE o

ham-related products, and the operations of restaurants.

HY 08 2 7 2 ¥R
AT E B AT Z AT

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Percentage

of equity

attributable

Place of Issued to the Company

incorporation/ ordinary/ AR A T HEAS
registration registered Wiz E 2l Principal
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect activities

sl CEARER,

# Xt B 5% o il i JBe AR HE A% B3 377
Capital Season Investments British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment
Limited Hong Kong 13%70 holding
KB IR LR BB
FS-Kamichiku Company Limited Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 - 60 Restaurant
R 8,000,000% G operation and trading
of beef products
B RERE K
PR i B 5
Great Benefit Investment Limited* Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 100 - Marketing of
EREH R A A * s 8,000,000% JC meat products
HHE JE P S i
Spark Communications Limited* Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 90 Communication
H: SR B 45 A PR ]+ & 10,0003 7 and advertising design
R o BT
Wealth Creation Company Limited* Japan JPY10,000 - 100 Property holding
AR 2 A HA 10,000 H & RS
William Food Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000,000 100 - Trading of frozen
R A R AFE i 200,000,000% 7T meats, seafood
and vegetables
R #i K 5
*  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm P IR o AT U 4 K € R T B2 K A Bk A A%

of the Ernst & Young global network
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

2 W) B 4R B EORE (A1)

S

FY 0 2 vl 2 BB (1)

3 BB T T A 5 T A R A S
T R R Z M e 4 ] o A RS L
A, B Jag 2 =) €7 0 W B T R

AW BB TIR B R BTN G ([ FHEE
sl AT 1) AU 2 7 o B i o ) ([ e
e R ) (B A6 0T A W B ol e Rl -
WEEH A (TR Bl ]) ke k)
SMERF B A o 2 T R A W A mI R B o B
PRI 0 45 2 AR Y 4 1 2 O 3R A PR
AN o AR T B AR TS DU S RAR 1 B o AR
LN (W] 22> A RENE
A s B AE Y DY 4 T\ B R T AL

5 Mk H 2k v

Ao B S R R AR A R LT A ® (DUF
BWMIAEEDRE_F_FE=A=1+—H
b5 A S 5 A o YR 2 ) B A O W) B B
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 Sk (4)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described in the accounting
policy for subsidiaries above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained, and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements, which

are applicable to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment

Amendments to HKAS 28
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

or Settlement
Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19 and HKAS
28, and Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle,
which are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs are described below:

(a) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4

Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out
the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for
all leases under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise
and measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting under
HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17.
Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating or
finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17. For
a sublease arrangement, the classification of the sublease is
made by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease, instead of by reference to the underlying asset.
HKFRS 16 did not have any significant impact on leases
where the Group is the lessor.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application
of 1 April 2019. Under this method, the standard has been
applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial
adoption recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity at 1 April 2019, and the comparative information
was not restated and continued to be reported under HKAS
17 and related interpretations.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the
use of the identified asset. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be
applied only to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date
of initial application. Contracts that were not identified
as leases under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were
not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under
HKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered into
or changed on or after 1 April 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings. As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases
as either finance leases or operating leases based on the
assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially
all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the
Group. Under HKFRS 16, the Group applies a single
approach to recognise and measure right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for all leases, except for two elective
exemptions for leases of low-value assets (elected on a
lease-by-lease basis) and leases with a lease term of 12
months or less (“short-term leases”) (elected by class of
underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term commencing from 1 April 2019, the Group recognises
depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the right-of-use
assets and interest accrued on the outstanding lease
liabilities (as finance costs).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases (continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised based
on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April
2019. The right-of-use assets were recognised based on the
carrying amount as if the standard had always been applied,
except for the incremental borrowing rate where the Group
applied the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present the
right-of-use assets separately in the statement of financial
position.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

. applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics when measuring
the lease liabilities at 1 April 2019;

. using hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend/terminate the lease;

. relying on the entity’s assessment of whether leases
were onerous by applying HKAS 37 immediately
before 1 April 2019 as an alternative to performing an
impairment review; and

. excluding initial direct costs from the measurement of
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application
when applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2. frh ook B i 8% 2 5 W) (1)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(a) (continued) (a) (%)
Financial impact at 1 April 2019 W2 —JAEN ] — H XM B8
The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at TERJUENH — BRI B
1 April 2019 was as follows: e HI SR 1658 1 R 3
HK$’000
BT T
Assets ¥i i
Increase in right-of-use assets i HE & 22 3% 23,932
Decrease in property, plant and equipment W~ W5 T R A WA (61)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEATSKIE ~ R 4 T At R Wk JE B 28
Decrease in investments in associates R A ) Z B E WA (4,434)
Increase in total assets B A AR B 19,465
Liabilities fifi
Increase in lease liabilities LB S 24,748
Decrease in other payables and accruals Al I A 5K I % M it S AR A (297)
Increase in total liabilities 45 4806 58 24,451
Equity HE f
Decrease in retained profits PR B i R o A (4,892)
Decrease in non-controlling interests I ¥ T HE 2 0k A (94)
Decrease in total equity RE 25 SAE WA (4,986)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)
Financial impact at 1 April 2019 (continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 were as
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HK$°000
BT T
Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 R_B-NFE=EA=T—HHEZ
BB AR 10,512
Add: Payments for optional extension periods e R ZE-E=ZA=Z+—H
not recognised as at 31 March 2019 e AR T e S 7 REL 288 45 ek I 14,559
25,071
Effect of discounting at incremental borrowing rate P JUE I — H RN
as at 1 April 2019 RSB CEEEA (323)
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 P NFENA —HZHE A 24,748
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate PN A — H R
as at 1 April 2019 F 35 38 A AR R 3.15%

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii)
how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses,
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts
and circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation,
the Group considered that the interpretation did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) Early adoption of amendments to standards during the year
ended 31 March 2020 where early adoption is permitted:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions, effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2021, provides lessees with exemption from
assessing whether COVID-19-related rent concession is
a lease modification and requires lessees that apply the
exemption to account for COVID-19 related rent concession
as if they were not lease modifications. In applying
Amendments to HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group
has applied the practical expedient and elected not to assess
whether COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease
modification. All of the COVID-19-related rent concessions
amounted to HK$81,000 has been credited to the income
statement within “selling and distribution expenses”.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material'

and HKAS 8§

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other events
that occur on or after the date of first application, the Group will
not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In addition,
the amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships which
are directly affected by these uncertainties. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2020. Early application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed
by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement
of information is material if it could reasonably be expected
to influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April
2020. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 March.  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEGFHEORME (H)

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss of the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i1) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Long term leasehold land Over the lease terms

Buildings 2.5% - 4%

Leasehold improvements, 10% - 33% or over the lease
furniture and fixtures terms, whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 10% - 20%
Computer systems 15% - 34%
Office equipment 10% - 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEGFHEORME (H)

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

RMBEHZFJENA —HRERH)

ACER T £ 70 B AR IR 9l 462 45 2 B 5
B o i A 0 R AR T 45 7 A — B ] A 458
] ) B Z REA > R A R e
M -

A LE A 25 AR BN

A 45 1 5 A R B O 0 AL R I A
FLEE BRAD) R IOCHE — e 8 S st By % - AKER
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(a) Right-of-use assets (a) fEAIRERE
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement RGN HERME A (LAY
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset AR BB MR o MR E TS
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured R A PHAT: AT 2557 85 AT o D s L R T
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any B> WA B A A AR IR A
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of BoMiHMEEZRALECHIMERA
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes E&H - CEAYGEERAR KRG H
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct W B2 /i AE 2 FL B A AR T e R
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the PG A o A8 > o R Y AR R
commencement date less any lease incentives received. AL 7 T B8 W b B s A A R O
Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also s T B A P A ET AR o i RE R
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the A B % A R AT AR (DA
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site Mo UE) NIRERBEYTE G
on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings 2 - 6 years Mg PEE
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by A 7 L 5 400 4% R IR L 5 X R
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise A AR O o A B LR AT BT R
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the R 42 4 B Z Ak 51T 4 A 51T o
estimated useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities (b)y MERME

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset. The Group’s lease liabilities are separately
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms and is included in other income and
gains, net in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as other income
and gains, net in the period in which they are earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEGFHEORME (H)

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified
as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-balance
sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as
an operating lease.

Leases (applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and
buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEGFHEORME (H)

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred assets is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of the
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stagel - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
and bills payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to
associates, an amount due to a non-controlling shareholder, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised cost
(loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEGFHEORME (H)

POLICIES (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same tax authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or the realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEGFHEORME (H)

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of the goods.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“‘equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model
or the Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEGFHEORME (H)

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share,
if any.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries and certain
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of an overseas subsidiary are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the overseas subsidiary
which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Accounting for investments in associates

The Group applies judgement in evaluate the financial results and
accounting estimates of the listed associate and its subsidiaries
and assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for
investment in the listed associate and its subsidiaries at the end of
each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets recognised
for losses available for offsetting against future taxable profits at
31 March 2020 was HK$332,000 (2019: HK$328,000). Further
details are contained in note 24 to the financial statements.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether
or not to exercise the option to renew the lease. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive
for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the
Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its
ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew (e.g.,
construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant
customisation to the leased asset).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has two reportable
operating segments for the year ended 31 March 2020 as follows:

(a) the trading segment is engaged in the trading of frozen
meats, seafood and vegetables in Hong Kong; and

(b) the “others” segment consists of restaurant operation,
marketing of meat products, communication and advertising
design and investment holding.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit/loss before tax except that bank interest income,
dividend income and unallocated gains/losses, gain on disposal of
a subsidiary, non-lease-related finance costs, share of profits and
losses of associates and corporate and other unallocated expenses
are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates, certain
items of property, plant and equipment and corporate and other
unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities and corporate
and other unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

3.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

BB W EOR ()

o a2 S MR R 2 F R =R 5
R B R E R BT W AT R 5 e

Trading Others Total
<) Hfb Bt
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
“RORE CEE R0 EFE SF0RE E0E
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
EWTL  BNTT  EETL  EETT  EWTE NI
Segment revenue 2B
Sales to external HMETFHIRER
customers 125,544 138,310 14,504 12,792 140,048 151,102
Intersegment sales A g 876 284 293 - 1,169 284
126,420 138,594 14,797 12,792 141,217 151,386
Reconciliation: HIE -
Elimination of PN 4 5 91K 8
intersegment sales (1,169) (284)
140,048 151,102
Segment results Vigi E ¥ (9,060) (9,622) (1,643) (450) (10,703) (10,072)
Reconciliation: B -
Bank interest income SRATH WA 2,643 1,386
Dividend income and R A K
unallocated gains/losses A 43 it
Wik R 438 308
Gain on disposal B — ] i )8
of a subsidiary A Z WA = 203,169
Finance costs L AR (L8
(other than interest on B f&2Z F &
lease liabilities) BRAM) (923) (2,184)
Share of profits and JRE AN Wi 25 2 W)
losses of associates i A1) J% e 18 (5,940) 9,044
Corporate and other AT B Al
unallocated expenses KB % (9,531) (13,586)
Profit/(loss) before tax ~ BRBEATHEFI
(&5 48) (24,016) 188,065
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31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. BB WEF (H)
Trading Others Total
) Ay it
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
“EORE CERhE SFOFE CEUE SF0FE EE
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T 3 WHH T T BT T
Segment assets 2 W ¥ 184,576 221,066 27,642 19,411 212,218 240,477
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment [ #5 & ¢k JH
receivables L 8 (59) (11)
Investments in associates J i & 2 6] Z
gy 406,093 445,032
Corporate and other O] B et
unallocated assets Ro L H B 38,911 18,881
Total assets % M 657,163 704,379
Segment liabilities Vg 3L 30,388 50,243 10,891 1,462 41,279 51,705
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of PN 5 HE £ sk JE
intersegment payables  #G8 (59) (11)
Corporate and other A B Al
unallocated liabilities 7% 43 Bt £ & 11,213 1,253
Total liabilities AR 52,433 52,947
Other segment Hofb 2 TR -
information:
Write-down of W& =
inventories to net W 5% B
realisable value 523 - - - 523 -
Capital expenditure* B 369 168 789 3,430 1,158 3,598
Unallocated capital AR 43T AR B S+
expenditure* 12,057 2,262
13,215 5,860
Depreciation e 654 198 4,321 1,110 4,975 1,308
Unallocated depreciation 74t 37 # 2,849 1,159
7,824 2,467
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BB S ARSI B 2 BUE R -

equipment.

—E—=
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31 March 2020 ZZE2=ZFF=H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. BBHBEFR (F)
Geographical information it 3 ¥
The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the FRAMNR R T 2Z Ml I ) 4 A4 ] 2 N R AR
location of its customers and information about the Group’s Z JIT AE L I #1434y e A SR I 2 FE IR B A A (&
non-current assets, excluding financial assets, analysed by the il RO 2 BRI F ¢

geographical area in which the assets are located, are as follows:

Revenue from Carrying amounts of
external customers non-current assets
WCAR HAARE P I R ) B IR vl L

2020 2019 2020 2019
CRORIE ZRJUE SRORE R
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T T T T T

Hong Kong Tr s 140,048 151,102 442,724 464,577
Japan H A = - 12,259 -
140,048 151,102 454,983 464,577
Information about major customers A% PN E R
There was no revenue from customers individually contributing AL A B &5 &SR M AR A W
to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group. 10% -
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WA~ HAbBOA B i o S
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WARERBERE ST EE H& 2B
allowances for returns and trade discounts. An analysis of EAE o WA ~ Hifddg A B Wess (5 18) = 40 #r
revenue, other income and gains/(losses) is as follows: mE :
2020 2019
- Jawe 403 “EJuiE
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Disaggregation of revenue WBAZ 55
Sales of goods RN 125,544 138,310
Others Ho At 14,504 12,792
140,048 151,102
Timing of revenue recognition WO, T 52 5 7
At a point in time T IRE FE] B e 3R 140,048 151,102
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31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WA~ AN Bk o B (5
(continued)
2020 2019
TRTRAE ZRJUE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M it BT o oo
Other income H A A
Bank interest income SRAT R B 2,643 1,386
Claims received R ER N 6 -
Dividend income from financial assets AT EEBREG ARN
at fair value through profit or loss LA EZ BB IRA 548 41
Gross rental income B A WA 1,633 1,108
Sundry income LR PN 532 7
5,362 2,542
Gains/(losses), net Wik Oi) > SH
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B — T B B A W] 2 W 28 29 - 203,169
Gain on disposal of items of property, WEWE - BE K
plant and equipment WHEE 2R - 374
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets AT B E 2 AR W
at fair value through profit or loss SrmhEEZ A FEKE
(& 18) (110) 267
Foreign exchange differences, net FE 50,75 5 > 824 441
714 204,251
6,076 206,793

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

T B I A A5 0[] e R I R TR R A
TR

2020 2019
SRR —F U
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T T
Revenue recognised that was included in contract R R A A R B
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: [ER Y&
Sales of goods S 150 176
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31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

6. FINANCE COSTS 6. HhEE A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BB AR Z S HTIE
2020 2019
R Bty I S
HK$’000 HK$’000
5T I BT
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans SRAT B B A RE s B AR 8 923 2,184
Interest on lease liabilities (note 13(b)) MEAEZHE (MFE13m) 695 -
1,618 2,184
7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BRBLRGTREA, Oi)

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

AR 2 BBLET R A (B 4R) Tk (G

(crediting): A) :
2020 2019
TR ZE
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
i3 BT BT
Cost of inventories sold BEFEEZ A 125,540 136,588
Depreciation of items of property, W~ BEREHEE Z
plant and equipment e 12 2,390 2,467
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i RE ¥ e 2 I B 4,981 -
Minimum lease payments under operating leases REME N Z KA EM & = 12,893
Lease payments not included in the A wH AL £ A R R
measurement of lease liabilities £ 3 8,388 -
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 85 Fili TN 4 1,253 1,182
Employee benefit expense TR B RAI B 3 (B HE R4
(including directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (Hf7Es)) -
Wages, salaries, allowances and TH& -~ #a - R
benefits in kind 1 A 16,637 16,077
Depreciation of staff quarter P AR A2 B A&
included in right-of-use assets i 453 -
Pension scheme contributions JB PR 4 3l it K 506 473
17,596 16,550
Write-off of trade receivables JRE W B Bk T - 86
Foreign exchange differences, net [ 56 75 B > (824) (441)
Net rental income 4 WA B (1,231) (700)
Impairment of trade receivables JE W B 5 R Ak DA 17 4,136 4,904
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B — T B B A W] 2 W s 29 - (203,169)
Write-down of inventories to AT & 2 R] A B A
net realisable value* 523 -
* The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in * WA E SR TECEE N E A HEEE 8

“Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. WM&
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to N E SN 4 L AL A F RS
the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a) and (b) of the Hong Kong 383(1)(a) X (b)E AT (PEHFEEN IR LR #
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure BIE2H Z TR T ¢
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2020 2019
TR TR e SR 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Fees 4 540 540
Other emoluments: I b 19 4>
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind P4 IS REY R R 5,555 5,555
Pension scheme contributions R4 FE 2 gk 42 42
5,597 5,597
6,137 6,137
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) M IEPAT S
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during ENCHE TR LIERTEEZMESWT ¢
the year were as follows:
2020 2019
SEoRE CRRA
HK$’000 HK$’000
T I BT T
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 60 60
CHEUNG Wing Choi RIS 60 60
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [y 60 60
180 180
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent AR P IR HC AT 4 FE 4G T B Sn IR AT
non-executive directors during the year (2019: Nil). (U4 ;) o
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31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WHM4E (H)
(b) Executive directors (b) AT
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
Fid o~ HW O BhkeRE

e KREDNE Z [ K
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
W T o W T T T W T T

2020 TR

Executive directors: HATES

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s 120 2,880 - 3,000
TAI Chun Leung wER 60 1,339 18 1,417
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SR 60 1,336 18 1,414
TAI Chun Kit W HE 60 - 3 63
TSE Siu Wan A E 60 - 3 63
360 5,555 42 5,957

2019 R e | 2

Executive directors: HATES

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s 120 2,880 - 3,000
TAI Chun Leung wER 60 1,339 18 1,417
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SR 60 1,336 18 1,414
TAI Chun Kit HE 60 - 3 63
TSE Siu Wan A E 60 - 3 63
360 5,555 42 5,957

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2019:

Nil).
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. Ju A M s v R B
The five highest paid employees during the year included three FN > IMFWHRESREAK = MERE (2R
directors (2019: three directors), details of whose remuneration —JUAE S ER) > % EF AR R
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the U RES o AARAE AR AL (S F— U
remaining two (2019: two) non-director, highest paid employees FAAL) 2 3 T T s v 0 B 2 B s B i -
for the year are as follows:
2020 2019
TRORAE “EJuiE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fidr o~ HM REW A 1,072 1,261
Pension scheme contributions RN P T 36 36
1,108 1,297
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose B 2 T T A R R BT & AE T B AR 2 B
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: H :
Number of employees
PN
2020 2019
TRTRAE R e
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 ¢ 2 2
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31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

10. INCOME TAX

10. P38t

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year. Tax on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the country in which the Group
operates. In the prior year, no provision for Hong Kong profits
tax had been made as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong.

AU 5B O 47 A 7 o8 s A 2 M R B i )
$16.5% 1 Bt 3 31 318 188 A o L fth b [k B R B i
) 2 B IE T 2 A 4 P 8 8 o A B K 2 BAT B R
At B o R 25 AR AC AR R 7 o 7 A ATy R
it A > 0 JHE R A W A 45 B AR A

2020 2019
TRTRAE ZRJUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT V-3 N
Current charge for the year A AR B BB 0
— Hong Kong — & 35 -
— Japan —HZAx 5 -
Deferred (note 24) IRIE (B 7E24) = (1e1)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year SENBLEE B 7 () B 40 (161)

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax charge/(credit) at the
effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e.,
the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

R A w] e e R g s W BT AR R
) A I 9 Bl R G B R B B i
WA, () Z BB X2 (R4 ) K DL B
Rt BUHB L (AR ) B > DLRE B
(M EBR) REEBRZHIRNT ¢

2020 2019
= 2 A
HK$’000 % HK$°000 %
T T I
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLHTE A 4H) (24,016) 188,065
Tax at applicable tax rates P 0 BE R 5 2 B (3,963) 16.5 31,031 16.5
Profits and losses attributable T 7 2 ) A ¥ ) B
to associates J& 18 980 4.1) (1,493) 0.8)
Income not subject to tax W8 SRR A (536) 2.2 (33,899) (18.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT AR B IE 0z X 754 3.1 1,566 0.8
Tax losses utilised from B P A3 ) 2 B s 1R
previous periods (49) 0.2 (215) 0.1)
Tax losses not recognised AR Z B IE e 18 2,765 (11.5) 2,849 1.5
Others oAt 89 0.4) - -
Tax charge/(credit) at the FAE BB RGIA
Group’s effective rate (#f) 2 BiIE 40 0.2) (161) 0.1)

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$4,379,000 (2019: HK$9,102,000) is included in “Share of
profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1. ARAFSBHERA HENSRARN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (1)
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts FRERBRN S (ER) T IEE RN KA
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary TImRES TR BFEARN S ER) » RER
equity holders of the Company, and the number of ordinary 3 47 35 3 259,586,000 (=& — JusE :
shares of 259,586,000 (2019: 259,586,000) in issue during the 259,586,000/ ) ¥t 5 o
year.
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share BRI R Ol 1R) JoMR 08 T 51 2k %
are based on: FHAE -
2020 2019
TRTRAE R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T I BT T
Earnings/(loss) ‘A, OEE)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders AR R 3 A R
of the Company, used in the basic and diluted AR (E8) P 2
earnings/(loss) per share calculation AR ) W 4 RE 2 TR B A
#wiA, (i) (24,111) 188,050
Number of shares
ey ¥ H
2020 2019

SRR ZE U

Shares JBe 3y
Number of ordinary shares in issue during the year AR I R AR R

used in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) BA () 24 %

per share calculation [RREER RN e dE] 259,586,000 259,586,000
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per HRAAREEBRE 2 FEE T NLEZH
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2020 and =+ —H IR EY LSS ) 2 OB T
2019 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially LT > G R I S e R
dilutive ordinary shares in issue during those years. B Z G IEARZF S ER) 1B H g o
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. P38 ~ BB Bk i
Leasehold
improve-
Land ments,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
My
V3 8% 11
kit YL S5 k&R i GHEE  HAsRh it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HEK$000 HE$000
b3 Ao #HTL WL BT 2 e b3 Ao
31 March 2020 CRCREENET-H
At 1 April 2019 (restated): RZZ—ENA—H
() :
Cost AR 11,781 8,489 5,782 2,309 2,791 31,152
Accumulated depreciation RAHTE R
and impairment (3423) (1,309) (5,773) (2,054) (1,212) (13,771)
Net carrying amount R £ 8,358 7,180 9 255 1,579 17,381
At 31 March 2019, net of accumulated WF-REZA=1—H
depreciation and impairment 0 2 A 47 Tk 8,358 7,241 9 255 1,579 17,442
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 EipR i e ]
ok b R - (61) - - - (61)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZ—ENA—H
() 8,358 7,180 9 255 1,579 17,381
Additions KE 12,032 744 251 58 130 13215
Depreciation provided during the year ENCEEZIE (69) (1,774) 23) 7 427) (2,390)
Exchange realignment T St 234 - - - - 234
At 31 March 2020, net of accumulated REZZRE=AZ4—H
depreciation and impairment TN R348 Rk 20,555 6,150 37 216 1,282 28,440
At 31 March 2020: RERZRE=ZR=A—:
Cost [IZS 24,047 9,233 6,033 2,367 2451 4,131
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2T E R (3,492) (3,083) (5,796) (2,151) (L,169) (15,691)
Net carrying amount iped 20,555 6,150 237 216 1,282 28,440
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31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

12. W3~ BB Bkt (4)

Leasehold
improve-
Land ments,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
Mgy
¥ IR
L RET REE e EHAR YL it
HKS$'000 HKS$ 000 HKS$’000 HKS$000 HKS$’000 HKS$000
EETE  EEFT BETE #ETT #RFE ENTR
31 March 2019 ZE-REZRE N
At 1 April 2018: REZZ-NEN—H :
Cost A 95,037 7,034 6,062 333 2,686 114,742
Accumulated depreciation REHATE R
and impairment (39,076) (3,381) (6,503) (3,250) (1,510) (53,720)
Net carrying amount T 55,961 3,653 159 73 1,176 61,022
At1 April 2018, net of accumulated ~ RZZF—AEEA—H >
depreciation and impairment REILS RV S 55,961 3,053 159 7 1,176 61,022
Additions HE - 4.844 9 237 770 5,860
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28)  WCRE A (Hfit28) - 5 - 3 18 2
Depreciation provided during the year 4 19 LM 2 7 (804) (128) (19 (58) (328) (2.467)
Disposals ki - ) (131) - (57) (191)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 29) i — A A
(Wit29) (46,799) - - - - (46,799)
Exchange realignment I 54 - - o) - - 9
At 31 March 2019, net of accumulated ~ R=Z—UEZA=A—H >
depreciation and impairment R SE YA 8,358 7,041 9 255 1579 17442
At 31 March 2019: REF-NE=RZ4-1:
Cost B 11,781 8,589 5782 2,309 2,791 31,252
Accumulated depreciation LS YL
and impairment (3,423) (1,348) (5,773) (2,054) (1,212) (13,810)
Net carrying amount TR (8 8358 741 9 255 1,579 17442
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13. LEASES 13. Mg
The Group as a lessee A A A Ry FRALA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of properties. AEMZEYEHEBAT CHMERL - BFEZH
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 6 W — W2 ZRONAE o B T RLEE & 40 64 1 1 s
years. There are several lease contracts that include extension FERE > SRIE N T OCHTER

options, which are further discussed below.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

5 e

A4 I 15 P A R T L A T A ) G
FIWE

Buildings
S

HK$°000

BT T
As at 1 April 2019 PR -JUENA—H 23,932
Lease modification FMEE%R (I51)
Depreciation charge g (5,434)
As at 31 March 2020 RoFFE=A=1—H 18,347

(b) Lease liabilities (b) MEHME
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEAHZIRHERENZEHWT :
during the year are as follows:
Lease

liabilities

LiiNEgER

HKS$’000

BT T
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 B JUENA — B Z MR E 24,748
Lease modification il T (151)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year (note 6) FENTERZ BIF R (HiE6) 695
Payments 3k (5.815)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 R-RRFE=EA=1T—HZIREAME 19.477
Analysed into: Sy Ay

Current portion B R Ay 4,846
Non-current portion I B B Ay 14,631
19,477

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 35 to the financial statements.
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31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

13. LEASES (continued) 13. #1E (4)
The Group as a lessee (continued) A Ry R AL (3
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (c) MR Z A EHMA SN T:
are as follows:
2020
e e 23
HK$°000
T
Interest on lease liabilities & A RS 695
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets R E BN 5,434
Variable lease payments not included Rt A\MEREFEZ
in the measurement of lease liabilities W] 5 B AT K 8,469
COVID-19-related rent concessions COVID-19#H B 1 4 & I8 (81)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss B 25 e R 2 A 14,517
The Group as a lessor A s i RLA
The Group leases certain of its land and buildings under AREEEREMERTHMES T L RS -
operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms RRAE VG 2 AR A T DA — 6 3 F @ P LA o
of termination by one month’s written notice. Rental income AR AR F A Y CHERE Z Rl W %5 1,633,000%
recognised by the Group during the year was HK$1,633,000 JC (ZF—JUH £ 1,108,000 0 ) » 5f 155 #U7 B
(2019: HK$1,108,000), details of which are included in note 5 to B A B EEs o
the financial statements.
At 31 March 2020, the undiscounted lease payments receivable R-BOREZA=Z1+—H » REEBRBEART
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating BN 2 2845 FHL 490 5 R 2k 3 ] 2 JE WAL B 2 %
leases with its tenants are as follows: B BLA E AT R
2020 2019
- Jawe 403 - SIS
HK$’000 HK$°000
YT BT T
Within one year —4ER 500 601
After one year but within two years — BN - 500
500 1,101
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14. GOODWILL 14. W%
HK$’000
BT
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of accumulated W —)FMH—HZ A
impairment 1B B FHE -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28) WAL i B JB8 A ) (M E28) 2,103
At 31 March 2019, at 1 April 2019 and at R_R-NWE=ZA=+—H
31 March 2020 “EZ-NENH—H R
“ERCEE=ZH=1—H 2,103
At 31 March 2020 and at 31 March 2019 REZFZRE=ZHA=+—HRK
—2—fUE= A=+
Cost A 2,103
Accumulated impairment BEH -
Net carrying amount e THI HE 2,103

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the
cash-generating unit of communication and advertising design for
impairment testing.

Communication and advertising design

The recoverable amount of the communication and advertising
design cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection is 15.56% (2019: 14.01%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating units beyond the
five-year period is 2% (2019: 0%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
communication and advertising design cash-generating unit
for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected
efficiency improvements, expected market development and
discount rates are consistent with external information sources.
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15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

15, RG24 vl Z B ¥

2020 2019

R TRAE ZEUE

HK$°000 HK$°000

BT o W oo

Share of net assets JEAY & B A 392,208 431,147
Goodwill on acquisition W B B A T 13,885 13,885
406,093 445,032

The amounts due from/to associates included in the Group’s
current assets and liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable under normal trading terms.

Particulars of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited, a material

At A G5 T i 0 S B MR T
RURIE TS BT - SR KR R B R R -

AR [ 2 0 o ) O A R ) R

associate of the Group, and its material subsidiaries are as B A F ZFEHWT
follows:
Percentage
Place of of ownership
incorporation/ interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business to the Group activities
A 4 AR
HEOBT bR B4 e
Eq B By 2 ik A 3328 ] | ENipig EX =3
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited Ordinary shares Cayman Islands 29.98 Investment holding
Y 4 4 T A R4 W9 M B 2T BRE R
Fancy Talent Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Marketing of
FRYTEA AR inilla R snack foods
NE 2T B 4
Fancy Talent Ecommerce Company Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 E-commerce retailing
RRYFEETFHEA AR 5 T of confectionery and
food products
BREBMHZ
BFHEZEE
Four Seas (Japan) Holdings Company Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Investment holding
PP CH AR 5 I AT R 9 B R BRE R
Four Seas Mercantile Limited (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in
W E 5 A FRA (ii) Non-voting s snack foods,

deferred shares
(i) ¥ 7 M
(i) 06 4 52 A

A S it A

—E-EEER |

confectionery

and beverages
N R K&
b2 % 5

ERRERREERERAA




Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 5 B AE

31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited, a material
associate of the Group, and its material subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

15. RBBE AR Z8E ()

AR [ 2 0 o ) O 4 A R R R
M E AR Z T (8D

Percentage

Place of of ownership

incorporation/ interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business to the Group activities

7% S [ B A

BHOHAT DR B B4 e
H BBy 2 A 3 $:2 8 L Eyipigca BEEH
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Co., Ltd.* Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
79 YAl B AR 2 HK$96,000,000 Mainland China confectionery and
G ¢ ZN K food products
96,000,000 7T R et i
ZHG
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd.* Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing of
VO P () Fr il AR A US$20,800,000 Mainland China beverages
CAEBA K i i

20,800,0003 7T

Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen Food Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Trading in frozen
Products Co., Ltd.* RMB83,300,000 Mainland China food products and
B TR v i A R ]+ O AR K snack foods
A R 83,300,0007C & BRI S
INEZHE 5
Hong Kong Biscuit (International) Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.79 Investment holding
A B (B H) A PR 2 ] 9 B R BRE R
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Manufacturing and
v K B e A PR ] B K FE packaging of ham
and ham-related
products
G T e K B R
A B KT 2
J. P. Inglis Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in
SR LT HERAT & i 3 food materials
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15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited, a material
associate of the Group, and its material subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

15. RBBE AR Z8E ()

Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

AR [ 2 0 o ) O 4 A R R R
M E A F T (5D

Percentage

Place of of ownership

incorporation/ interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business to the Group activities

7% S [ B A

BHOHAT DR 8 B4
H BBy 2 A 3 $:2 8 L Eyipigca BEEH
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.69 Restaurant operations
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited i i REERE

B LR A A
Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd.* Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing
it (B & i A R US$5,220,000 Mainland China of noodles
CHURRA ok b Ji %
5,220,0003 7C

Murray Catering Company Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 20.99 Provision of
FE R B e A PR A )+ 8 i 3 lunch box and
tuck shop services
ARG K
/N R R
New Kondo Trading Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in Japanese
AR 5 A A & i 3 food materials
HACR
JERHE 5
Restaurant Shiki Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98  Restaurant operations
T 5 A R A T il LR RERE
Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
RMB500,000 Mainland China confectionery and
C4R BeAR K food products
A RH#500,00078 Bl R B b
ZH5
Four Seas (Guangzhou) Food Import Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
and Export Trading Company Limited* RMB29,000,000 Mainland China confectionery and
PO (RN &SRB CHRBAR R K R food products
B H R A ] A R:#29,000,0007¢ Bl Rt b
ZH5

—E-EEER |
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 5 B AE

31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 15. BB A 2 BE (5)
Particulars of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited, a material ARG FEER AR WMEEERA R AHE
associate of the Group, and its material subsidiaries are as B AR ZFEEWT - ()
follows: (continued)
Percentage
Place of of ownership
incorporation/ interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business to the Group activities
A 4 AR
BAECHST bR %R A hE
H BBy it A B B o BEfi v 2 B B3 377
RUSE Y Y P 5 A A R A )+ Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing and
HK$37,000,000 Mainland China packaging of ham and
G ¢ ZN K ham-related products
37,000,000% 7t 0 T % K o e
A T B SR E B
RN T R T A R Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.69 Restaurant operations
RMB73,959,210  Mainland China RRERE
TR A Hr ok B
A R#73,959,2107C
* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm * S A s 2 K 8w R I T B K A R A A
of the Ernst & Young global network Fo Al B o W] %
The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the LREFARAFREER A EREEEFEE
opinion of the Company’s directors, principally affected the E B R R T R 2 BB AT o ARA
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net Vi) o TR R R B A IR 45 2 R 5 AR R AR A oT
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates would, RoABES A HHEARAT MERE -
in the opinion of the Company’s directors, result in particulars
of excessive length. All associates were indirectly held by the
Company.
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited, which is considered a PR A AL 2 FAR B AR W ERR
material listed associate of the Group, is a strategic partner of the PR A B P F B E e B » T AHE [ DRE 25 3 AR
Group engaged in investment holding and is accounted for using ZIRME RS A o LB A W] 2 I R T AR i AR
the equity method. The shares of this associate are listed on the ke

main board of the Stock Exchange.
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15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

16.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited, adjusted

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

15. RBBE AR Z8E ()

A5 5 Y AR AR A ] B R
(REAT ] o s BOSR 28 S W 3 ) B A J 2 ik

for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the FRIEH A Z B E :
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2020 2019
SRORE SR UK
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T
Current assets LEE A 1,668,724 1,685,656
Non-current assets I3 By A 1,225,052 868,155
Current liabilities oA E (1,170,432) (1,061,785)
Non-current liabilities T o By £ A (378,146) (17.466)
Net assets A 1,345,198 1,474,560
Less: Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests W : F b I RE 2 HEAN 2
jog ez il (37,869) (37,382)
Net assets attributable to equity holders W s v R 2 B A 3 A 2
of the associate BRETH 1,307,329 1,437,178
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:  H&AS 4 B 7 I 48 A 7] Z
HE i 2 B -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A 4R 18 A RE Z LE 29.9 % 29.9%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate, AR A [ HEAL 8 A ] 2
excluding goodwill B R FE o ARG 392,208 431,147
Goodwill on acquisition WAL B I 2 v 13,885 13,885
Carrying amount of the investment B RTHAE 406,093 445,032
Revenues KA 2,928,037 3,028,987
Profit/(loss) for the year R (BR) (14,279) 37,944
Other comprehensive loss for the year AR B 3 fth 2> i s 1H (59,640) (66,958)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AF i 2 i 1R A0 (73,919) (29,014)
Dividends received from the associate EWE & A [ 2 KRB 10,947 39,754
Fair value of the Group’s investment AEFMBEZ N THE 334,161 400,993
INVENTORIES 16. f##11
2020 2019
CRRAE —F U
HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT X
Finished goods B B 27,450 36,422

—E—=

SRS

FER |
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 5 B AE

31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

17. MEWCR 5 Wk

2020 2019

SRUBE SR

HK$’000 HK$’000

T Vi o T

Trade receivables FE W™ 5 iRk ak 19,010 25,155
Impairment WA (9,040) (4,904)

9,970 20,251

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally one to three
months. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over these balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of

ALK P Z WS RM VAR B8 T o W&
P et A K o 5B =W
H oo SRR P A 5 R BRI o AGEE ) R Bk
A% 42 ) L v A WACH 2 B s T o B £ B L
Bt e 2 dpc K o e AR BL R o 00 R A ) A
i o B Rk REHE > DL R ACAR E 2 WL BT S iR
ARER L ey % P A B o PR O I e TR A
R rh LB o A 52 1 I SR R S A R A AT
A S S A 1 AR T o MR 5 MR TS S
B

T IR > AR EEST H W KA BB R

the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss W G IRRZIRE ST -
allowance, is as follows:

2020 2019
R ORAE R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT T
Within 1 month EH A 6,103 10,765
1 to 2 months 1221 H 3,400 4,523
Over 2 months 28 A PL L 467 4,963
9,970 20,251

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

JE Wi B2 5 Bk i < e R AR A B T

2020 2019

SRoRE S

HK$’000 HK$’000

YT BT

At beginning of year HAEF) 4,904 -
Impairment losses (note 7) WAE B (A7) 4,136 4,904
At end of year AR 9,040 4,904
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2020

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

17. KEWCR 5 Wk (4)

TP A8 S 4 R P 884 R IO A A 2 A
V0wt B R0 A5 AR K o 48048 3 75 B R g B A 8
O ML R0 22 M6 % 5 43 B0 AT 2 AL (R 4%
PR R A ) 43 ) i g v H G B e Rt
TR Wl AR A e A5 SR~ BN IR SR i H
W WA B A B R O R BOR 2R AL
P T A £ BE e FL S AR PR B RY

AR A S [ e B SR R D A e e
Y £ B L I Y R

RoZ-REZA=1—H

Past due
i
Less than 1to 6 7t09 Over
Current 1 month months months 9 months Total
my AR—Ma —f2AMA LtELEA BELEA Bt
Expected credit loss rate  JE {5 FHHH K - - 67.42% 100.00% 100.00% 47.55%
Gross carrying amount AR 9,733 93 442 539 8,203 19,010
(HK$°000) (BT L)
Expected credit losses B AR - - 298 539 8,203 9,040
(HK$’000) (EHF)
As at 31 March 2019 WZF—NE=H=+—H
Past due
Less than 1to6 7to9 Over
Current 1 month months months 9 months Total
m AR—mA —2AEA tEAUEA BBEUEA B
Expected credit loss rate I f5 Al R & - - - 51.99% 84.23% 19.50%
Gross carrying amount A T 15,118 1,513 2,135 1,481 4,908 25,155
(HK$’000) (W)

Expected credit losses B REE - -
(HK$°000) (W T )

- 770 4,134 4,904
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

18.

19.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

18. BAT K ~ 5T 4 B 3 fib M ek I

2020 2019

TR TR R

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T BT

Prepayments T A R 233 634
Deposits and other receivables 5T 4 S A JE ek JE 2,456 1,536
2,689 2,170
Less: Portion classified as non-current W 4S8R IR AL B AR A (1,406) (999)
1,283 1,171

Deposits and other receivables mainly represented rental deposits
and deposits with suppliers. Expected credit losses are estimated
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The expected credit loss is insignificant
to the Group.

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group
assessed the impact of loss allowance for impairment of deposits
and other receivables was insignificant.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

R 40 T At B WAk T s R L 4 4 B b MR
sy o AR AL 275 00 A s 4R L 828 8 B M
RPN U A R ARZR o TS A
SR H I AEK o

A A P Y < R SO O S 4 i
PR UK IEA B - R _F ZFE R RN
FEEZAZAH s A B REAG T 4 e Al E
AR Z WA A K o

19. 32 1802 8 41 2 A Mk 2 4 ik ¥

2020 2019

CRORAE Sy IS

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT o BT T

Listed equity investments, at fair value LT RERR B o A P 6,106 3,979
Unlisted club debenture, at fair value LW g ES > A TE 1,300 1,300
7,406 5,279

Less: Classified as non-current assets W Ay R B G (1,300) (1,300)
Current portion B3 356 4 6,106 3,979

The listed equity investments were all included under current
assets at 31 March 2020 and 2019 and were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
trading.

The unlisted club debenture was mandatorily classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21.

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

20. RERBLESFMHIEH

2020 2019

R TR R

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Cash and bank balances B4 BRAT R 7 49,187 95,319
Time deposits with original maturity of less FEHEIMAAR=AZ

than three months when acquired 7 W1 R 105,202 80,271

154,389 175,590

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$3,914,000 (2019: HK$4,234,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

21.

TR AR » AREEPLN R (T AR ) 54
Z B4 T B4 A TE B £53,914,000% 00 (= F
—JU4F 4,234,000 70) - AR¥EAB A L
e Ho At £ > AHHR B8 o IO e A IR 45 BRG] A
AENE B TE K AT R B E > AR E AR
HE TR AT AT A I S B B 2 SRAT I N BRI St
By oAl N o

SRAT Bl TR H BRAT A R A 2% DL Bl ) 2 R
R o JELI1 58 BIA7 K i A2k 1 & AR > 9
—HEZEA o T A [ BB 7 R i
SE > A% 45 9 A S0 A KON B R R e IR S o
SRAT A AF T A T 20 90 S 28 0 A e kT LA L A
R Z AT -

HE A B 50 MRk B 554 %

FECE IR AR SRS H ) 2 AT B S R AR %
RIZIRB AT

2020 2019

CRORAE —EF U

HK$’000 HKS$’000

BT BT T

Within 1 month IREDERA 4,694 7,790

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally JEAT B 5 Wk A S B B — M 30560 H 1 FR 4%
settled on terms of 30 to 60 days. £if o

“ECEEER | ERARMREERARLA
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 5 B AE

31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

22, il M Ak O B M £ 4

31 March 1 April 31 March
2020 2019 2019
—ogE SEUE F AR
=Z=H=Z+—H WMA—H =H=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T BT T
Contract liabilities AR AR (a) - 150 150
Other payables At JE A 3K I (b) 96 196 196
Accruals JE G £ £ (©) 4,420 4,445 4,742
4,516 4,791 5,088
Less: Portion classified as W2 495 A IR B A AR
non-current (c) (100) (100) (235)
4,416 4,691 4,853
Notes: e
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) AHAXNABZFEBRRIINT -
31 March 31 March 1 April
2020 2019 2018
TR ORAE ZEJUE R )\
=Z=A=+—H ZA=Z+—H /WA —H
HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT BT BT
Short-term advances received from Yk il EI=F 0]
customers
Sale of goods S B - 150 176
Contract liabilities represent short-term advances received to deliver A AR A A =2 0 TE WO E o i
goods. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2020 and 2019 was FORFERCE-NEZAHNALERAS EEHR
mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances received from TAAF I 81 B £ 0 A B =2 0 TR R JE Bk A o
customers in relation to the sale of goods at the end of the year.
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of (b) HMbEAMAZETIRE - EREHFHLE=MA -

three months.

(c)  As aresult of the initial application of HKFRS 16, deferred rents of
HK$297,000 previously included in “Other payables and accruals”
were adjusted to the retained profits recognised at 1 April 2019
(refer to note 2.2 to the financial statements for further details).
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31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 23. AT A B Z 8T Bk
2020 2019
TR RAE ZR N
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate  Maturity HK$’000 rate Maturity HK$°000

OB AR AW BEFTIC HEMNX YA #EWTT

Current I
Trust receipt loans JEHE 5 RE R 2.89% Within 2.93% Within
— unsecured = 12 months 12 months
12 H W 20,469 124 H A 37,527
All trust receipt loans are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and JI A 5 w6 WO R sk DA W 7 wHE I 4% v B R R
bear interest at floating interest rates. Ignoring the effect of any TR R o W BR AR BORMEIR B — Rk 2 S B >
standard repayment on demand clause and based on the maturity DL EESA R B Z AT R ZBIW W E -
terms of the above interest-bearing bank borrowings, they are HR—FNEE -
repayable within one year.
24. DEFERRED TAX 24. BHEBLH
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as AR EE B A BT
follows:
Deferred tax liabilities M A BRI
Losses available
for offsetting
Accelerated tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
LGRS iy o
B ek
T k8 e 7 T8 2 s 4t At
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT
At 1 April 2018 W_F—)FNH—H (3,298) 2,840 (458)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AR REIENFIA S
to the statement of profit or loss (F1BR) 2 28 1 B I
during the year (note 10) (MfiE10) (128) 289 161
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 29) i 8 — [ Kt & 2 & (B 7£29) 3,098 (2,801) 297
At 31 March 2019 and RoF-UE=HA=1+—H
1 April 2019 K _F—NFENH—H (328) 328 -
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AAEEFRBRZRENGTAS
to the statement of profit or loss (I BR) Z 78 1 A JH
during the year (note 10) (HfiE10) (4) 4 -
At 31 March 2020 BRI RE=ZA=1+—H (332) 332 -
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31 March 2020 ZE2=24=A=+—8

24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows: (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$264,705,000
(2019: HK$248,424,000) and deductible temporary difference
of HK$9,040,000 (2019: HK$4,904,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses and deductible temporary
difference arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of the following items:

24, EREBLIE (5)
RENBELEREAGZZHMT « (8)

HE % L 14 (A1)

REREIR > AREEE AW EEZBUE B R
#1264,705,000% JC (=& — JU4FE : 248,424,000
W) B AT BRI IR 22 %9,040,000% 00 (=&
—JL4E : 4,904,000% 50 ) W S FR 5 AR HG 0 5%
2 B 18 2 A R =2 0 A HE SRR s ) B BT e
ZEHH o WR M T A 45 TH H e RE i BLE B E

2020 2019

TR R ZERJUE

HKS$’000 HK$’000

T o BT T

Tax losses ik d 7 262,693 246,435
Deductible temporary difference CEil R i35 9,040 4,904
271,733 251,339

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above items can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant

unrecognised deferred tax liability (2019: Nil) for taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s

25.

8 e B NN e o VAT SRR 1
Z MERR B A > WO St T e R A A
HERE -

TR UK > MO S TR A 4 ] A ) 2 R R
R E A 2 B ASS E E T Hh FB R ORAR e 2 A
HAM (SR JLFE ) -

subsidiaries.
SHARE CAPITAL 25. JBAR
Shares B4
2020 2019
SRORE SR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T I BT T
Issued and fully paid: CETRHAR -
259,586,000 ordinary shares 259,586,000/8¢ 35 48 Ji 117,095 117,095

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in

note 26 to the financial statements.
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds any equity
interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”). The Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years up to 27 August 2022, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect in all other respects. Share options
complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are
granted during the duration of the Scheme and those which
remain unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year
period shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of grant as within the share option period for which such
share options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the
Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 25,958,600 ordinary shares,
being 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 25,958,600 ordinary
shares, representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of
the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is a grantee of the share options). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of each
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.
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26. W JBE BE 51 B

A0 V) A PR T A R O S A% e S R AR
MEEEGA A REMZAERZIME - 5t #)
ZHEW2ME BEANF ZE R (BIGHT
FERATH ) ~ bR B RA A R HE A R K
A SR [ A A JBE 3 AR 2 2 T A o 2 o
A -

PoF AN =N RARRMA—IH
i PR M 3 ([ 3 1) o it 2 A RO 2 104
EORCHENA ST EERIL s RREAE
P82 A Ao i Je B > RS ) 2 R AE B A A
05 TS R A2 B B A 3K o B AR A b i BRI
BIF > S B0 A B R AR > B AEF #)
Yo e S 79 AR AT O 2 S BB o A7 T 4 i B
RERZ R Z R AEATBE > S SZ 5t BT S 2 -

H B B8 T 3 A0 B 2 0 R AT B B
e 5 B H 525,958,600 3 8 B o HH 2 AR A
AAEE-_HENA TN NHEBITREZ
10% o RARER A BB > MRS 58w Bh 38 47 =2
13 ¥ H #525,958,600/8 % 8 it > M &R A A
BOEBITHRAZ10% o B+ 8 A B H
W BEBET#ETRE#H NS GRS HE
BEAT 2 B 0 JBe A B ) AS 158 A AR 2 ) AR AT AT IR
Mz BB AT IR 2 1% ARl — 3% i it
PR 8 =2 I I RE > B 28 A B SR & b O I AL
;ﬁo

BYANFES - B TBN BB
EX & PAINN T Il 13 R S
A 2 T 3 I AT 2 e (FF o) 8 4% 7 i
JBc e 2 S IE AT E B ARG HAEN) o Buob
AEAE T+ A8 A I 4R P A A ] 2 BB
EB LT E S > R FE TR AL
A ] i P AR A 2 ] IR ] 2 L 34 M
1y 2.0.1 %8 30 B8 ($%4% 6 AR H 2 By
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. WEIBCHE T3 (4)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company,
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be
achieved before the share option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day;
(i1) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option was granted to the directors
and other employees of the Company or employees of any of the
Company’s subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds
any equity interests (2019: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
options outstanding under the Scheme (2019: Nil).

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2020

52 ) i P -z s I 4 D T R s
REF A\ H WA > RIS U8 B A3
O35 8 A 352 HhY PR i A S > i G
WY A 6 e R 2 W > I 1988 e T AR
O] > M BERE 2 R 5 51 A BB A BB T
B A Ik AR AN o T S B 2 A
oK B ol A S R DLk A o A B Rk
08 1 A 45 AEL A BRI (i) M A 0 O AT 5 i) A e
ZATBEIT > 91 BRAS B 2 7S T e 47t R
L1O4F 5 (i) Je Al S5 L 2R 5 1 2 A AT AT (A
A7) 5 Re(iv)ARBLH B > 2 5L A AT B I JBe A i
HERZRBAE(WA) -

W REZ AT E A > AR
A0 i 21 2 R O RE A S R v W > RS 1R
DL 0 () A 2 B A S R v T e
HH(EARS D) R HMEE iz
W 5 (i) AR 2 T A 1 2% 4 57 e v
H 390 A 40 22 55 B 71 28 BT 48 H 8 22 B i
U AE 5 R (i) A A B B Z i E -

S JBE R S 28 T 5 A N MU B B JBe SRR
EREZHES -

N BEHERZ H N JBORE T A 2 W B o % LA g
B AR A W A A W) e AR 4 AT o B A
MZEBZER (ZFJUE M) o

T IR > A2 R EE BT S 28 0 AR AT 0
JBHE (T — U ¢ ) o



27.

28.

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

RESERVES 27. Gl i
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein 2 A B AR AR TR B 0 1 4 2 e A e L 5 Bl A
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated B GO HZ AR EHRN 2 -
statement of changes in equity on page 61 of the financial
statements.
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign WIEA BAMERE SR fBE > hAHE
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s [ 7 b K RE DA AP R I A A 2 7 AR 2 s
associates operating as Foreign Investment Enterprises in 2 ) T R 1Y Ll () B A 1R ) A 43 A T A A )
Mainland China has been transferred to the share of other ZHAbREM  c R FE=ZH=1+—H 4
reserves of associates. As at 31 March 2020, the share of other A1 Tk 8 2\ W] 2 Ak A 254,712,0008 0 (ZF
reserves of associates of HK$4,712,000 (2019: HK$4,683,000) —JLAE : 4,683,000 70) > % A A 43 UK Y fa A
was non-distributable in nature and could be utilised to offset the 4o WA HAENREE T R Z B R -
losses incurred.
BUSINESS COMBINATION 28. BB
On 1 February 2019, the Group acquired a 90% interest in Spark R-B—NEZA—H > REEE N HILE
Communications Limited from an independent third party at a =75 » LB £ R 4E2,000,0009 70 W I i 5% g
cash consideration of HK$2,000,000. Spark Communications HEHRATF] Z90%BHE - K FEHAH R AR I
Limited is engaged in communication and advertising design. The TN E W F AR A W R IE A Y
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to enrich the CE B EA TR el i Rt
variety of the Group’s businesses.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Spark T 5 5 45 B 2 =) 5 RO =5 08 H I 22 ) ik il
Communications Limited as at the date of acquisition were as EAAENAFEEIWT
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
i WA B i
ZNTE
HK$°000
W oo
Property, plant and equipment Wk~ W5 B 26
Trade and other receivables JRE W B 5 TR ek e L At I WOk T 264
Cash and cash equivalents BaRBESFEEA 49
Trade and other payables JRE A B2 5 R ik e L At JE A K IR (6)
Amount due to shareholder JRE A I 3R (447)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value RN PR FE B 2 W)k B R A (114)
Non-controlling interests I ¥ I HE 2% 11
(103)
Goodwill on acquisition (note 14) WA e B T 2 B (M 1 4) 2,103
Satisfied by cash PLBL 4 32 A 2,000
The fair value of the trade and other receivables as at the date JRE WA B 5 Wi ik o G Al R WALk TS W H =2 AT
of acquisition amounted to HK$264,000. The gross contractual {8 %5264,00085 7C o HE W 5 Wk ik S Ath JE ek
amount of trade and other receivables was HK$264,000, which is TH 1 48 A 44 %60264,0009 70 > FE I W] Y e o

expected to be collectable.
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28. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a
subsidiary is as follows:

28.

X850 (8

A7 B W S R Jig 2 W) 2 B 9 Y 43 A R B
T

HK$’000

B o

Cash consideration Be R (2,000)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired CERZB KRB 4FHEE 49
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in ~ FIABREEK B SR BB SMB & FHEEE

cash flows from investing activities i (1,951)

Since the acquisition, Spark Communication Limited contributed
HK$347,000 to the Group’s revenue and HK$16,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year
ended 31 March 2019, the revenue of the Group and the profit
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 would have been
HK$152,999,000 and HK$187,942,000, respectively.

29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 21 May 2018, a resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution by shareholders of the Company in relation to the
disposal of its entire equity interest in Hung King Development
Limited (“Hung King”), a wholly-owned subsidiary and
beneficial owner of the parcel of land and building in Sai
Kung, Hong Kong, to an independent third party pursuant to
the sale and purchase agreement dated 17 March 2018 for a
cash consideration of HK$250,000,000. The transaction was
completed on 15 August 2018. The net assets of Hung King at the
date of disposal were as follows:

29.

B WS TE DL R > 55 5T B A B A A 4R
WA EBR347,0008 050 » WARE F—NLE=
H =4 H 4R B B 57 AR A B Rk 16,0008 5T -

AR BEREZE—-NLE=ZH=+—HILE
PERNHEAT > B A 4 [ 2 W A B A 4R B 2 s A
BEZZ-NWE=ZA=1+—HILEELNA
152,999,000%% 7T 5% 187,942,000% I °

25— [ B ) 2 W)

WoF— ) 4EHAZ+—H > —THRBER A
AT BERIERGEM > (BB H B BB =07
BEFBRAMRAR (MW (s —HaE
e 2 W g A =) B A 7 W VY B — R M S A
ZEHEFAN) ZEWBRMEZ L BRER |
Bk AW A - N\FE=2H+tH BH4ER
18 %250,000,0009 76 » %R 5 B ZF— )\4E
AR HSEE o WEN & H B 238 ER
HE -

2019

%A

Notes HK$’000

Mt it BT T

Net assets disposed of: hWEZHFEE -

Property, plant and equipment W~ W5 B 12 46,799
Prepayments and deposits TE AT R JEH 5T 4 329
Deferred tax liabilities A F A T £ A 24 (297)
46,331

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B — T B R 2\ 2 i i 5 203,169
Satisfied by cash e RSN 250,000
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DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 29. WA —FHE A (8
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in FHHE—HMEARMNB S RIEA&%SMEEH
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: WMAFHEHWMT -
2019
—JuiE
HK$°000
BT T
Cash consideration and net inflow of cash and cash A B T BB A E] 2 B AR &
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary Bl BB ST H R A G 3 250,000
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 30. EMA K
As lessee e R R ALA
The Group leased certain office premises, a staff quarter and A RS E P & T A ST -
a restaurant under operating lease arrangements. Leases were BITIE SRR - BBEH ZHAFEH WER
negotiated for terms of two to three years. =4
At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease RoF—-NWE=ZH=Z1+—H » REFERBEA
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as 8 2 2878 FLA T 5 3 FRORE A =2 R 2R R A
follows: AR T -
2019
B
HK$’000
BT T
Within one year —4ER 5,804
In the second to fifth years B oEBREREN 4,708
10,512
From 1 April 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets HZ—JUENH—HK > REHE Bﬁﬁ 28 H
and lease liabilities for leases. For details, please refer to note 13 WEEAHEZHEAME  GHHENE  FH2H
to the consolidated financial statements. 5 A BB O B RS o
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash lease modification
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$151,000
and HK$151,000, respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings (2019: Nil).

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

31 March 2020

31. HEBERBERRE

(a) EEERERS

FEN o REIBRETEZHE LIS IERS
FH G 40 Bl 16 ok 2 i A O A T R B
151,000%7C 5 151,0008 70 ( —F—JL4E ¢
fE) o

(b) BEGEHHELAKZES
RoROREZA=Z1—H

Interest-bearing

Lease bank

liabilities borrowings

AT F B

AL A Z 84T B

HK$’000 HK$’000

T BT

At 31 March 2019 W_R-NWE=ZA=Z+—H = 37,527

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 PR AP A o T 7 O S R SR 1 698

2B 24,748 =

At 1 April 2019 (restated) RIZF—JENH—H (BES)) 24,748 37,527
Changes from financing cash flows MEBEREEH (5,120) (17,058)

Lease modification N (151) =

Interest expense F BB X 695 -

Interest paid classified as operating cash flows NP RHREBREREZ O E (695) =

At 31 March 2020 W_R_EF=ZA=+—H 19,477 20,469

31 March 2019

BRER-JUEZH=1—H

Interest-bearing
bank
borrowings

TH AT FIB

Z AT K
HKS$’000

BT T

At 1 April 2018 B_F—/)\FEMNH—H 162,561
Changes from financing cash flows A SR EEE) (125,034)

At 31 March 2019 R_F—NWE=ZA=+—H 37,527
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 31. A SRR (5)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases () MEZBL4EH MMM
The total cash outflow for leases included in the AAGABEMERZIHEZH SR A
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: R W
2020
TR TRAE
HK$’000
BT
Within operating activities BEEHN 9,083
Within financing activities il 5 B 5,120
14,203
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. HEALRY
(a) The Group had the following material transactions with (a) SEW > ANBEESLIBHE A LT FHAEK
its related parties during the year: Ry
2020 2019
TR RAE N SRS
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Wi T BT
Rental income received from related Ir R 2 2 W) CHORH 4 A
companies (1) 601 562

Rental income received from associates Ih W 2 2 ) WECHORHL 4 A (ii) 606 112

Sales of goods to associates IF) TG 2 2 ) B B (iii) 687 450

Purchases of goods from associates 17 TG 8 2 W) HR i B @iv) 1,644 364

Marketing service income from associates 1] I 2 2 %) W B 8 Ik 7

LN v) 497 -

Purchases of goods from a non-controlling ] i J& 23 ®] =2 Jk 4 Jit Bt 2R

shareholder of subsidiary PRI (vi) 13,996 7,361

Notes: Mt -

(i) The tenancy agreements were entered into with the related () LS bk D el B N F M B Z K
parties on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended FIOL o RLAY W AR R HA - HEEMN—
and renewed until terminated by either party. TULAIL ©

(ii)) The tenancy agreements were entered into with associates (i) LR B k7 o OB 8 ) R L R E 2 R
on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended and FIOL o LAY AT AER] K E A o BB — U
renewed until terminated by either party. T UKL -

(iii) The sales of goods to associates were made by reference (iii) S AR SEEE M2 % A% )7
to prices and conditions similar to those offered to other Bt 2 JADL A s B Aok A i S
customers.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

2. BEALRS (8)

The Group had the following material transactions with (a) AEW > ARBEEEICEEA L TFHEKR
its related parties during the year: (continued) Ry (8)
Notes: (continued) HfaE : (%)
(iv) The purchases from the associates were determined by (v) TG A FIREETS 2% 8 A w R
reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered by % PR AL Z S AR AR B M1 G B E o
the associates to their major customers.
(v) The marketing service income was determined by reference (v) BHRBERASHET AR P ZHE
to prices and conditions similar to those offered to other A% B M 1 i o
customers.
(vi) T 4 B I M BRCER B 75 2 MR 42 e Je 3R 1)
(vi) The purchases from a non-controlling shareholder were W% R PP 2 A E S R )
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to & o
those offered by a non-controlling shareholder to their major
customers.
The related party transactions in respect of items (ii) to bSCGh)REHIER B Z BN R 5 R
(vi) above constitute continuing connected transactions FrE AR 5 (% L BB 14ASE TR 7
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since ZREFR)  c R LXGMEWEE B
the amounts in respect of items (ii) to (v) are below de T b R B 2B 14 A7 6466 i 3 8 d5 1K B8 A K
minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76 of Vo (i) ZB (v) T M 2 R A B R AL AR
the Listing Rules, items (ii) to (v) are fully exempt from R E L EARE 2 P8 - 13
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure (vi)TE T3 M35 — 44 J 45 B B 3 B A 4 B 5T
requirements under the Listing Rules. Item (vi) above is AL AT > SR AL EH
entered in accordance with the master supply agreement Mo )NELA T —HZAGR > I
between a non-controlling shareholder and the Group, S BT BRI 14A 1016 Z F i ] A
details of which are included in the Group’s announcement MR E > M E 00 4 < A o B R o 2
dated 21 September 2018 and are subject to reporting 5 o
and announcement requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant to
Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.
Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) BB A+ 2 v R AE IR 50
(i) Details of the balances with associates at the end of the () RHER - HIEE AR Z 4R
reporting period are included in note 15 to the financial T > SO B 5 i B ks o
statements.
(ii) The amount due to a non-controlling shareholder is (i) HEAT b Fi Bt Bt ok T 0 S G ~ S )8
unsecured, interest-free and repayable under normal B3k — I Gk R -
trading terms.
Compensation of key management personnel of the (¢) ABEMFEAAMARZHM :
Group:
2020 2019
“RoEE SR
HK$’000 HK$’000
YT BT
Short term employee benefits w1 R B A 6,842 6,823
Pension scheme contributions X o P T 60 60
Total compensation paid to key management EAGE XS UNEEZ L]
personnel Z S AR A 6,902 6,883

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
to the financial statements.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020
Financial assets
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Bt 7% 3R 5 Y A

31 March 2020 ZZ2=Z2F=H=+—H

33. ST HZAH
REEMK > FFEM T HZIREMAEN T ¢

R R
¥R
Financial assets

at fair value
through profit

or loss
SR ]
B AMRZ
A
Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated amortised
as such cost Total
L]
WA wE
0 R ZEMEE B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT oL T I T
Listed equity investments T RE AR G 6,106 - 6,106
Unlisted club debenture BN Rgdien 1,300 - 1,300
Trade receivables FE WL’ 5 Bk ak - 9,970 9,970
Financial assets included in G R FA I ~ 5T & R H
prepayments, deposits and other b 8 WUk T 2 4 i
receivables (note 18) (H7E18) - 2,456 2,456
Due from associates JRE WA W 2% A ) - 235 235
Cash and cash equivalents B kB eSEEA - 154,389 154,389
7,406 167,050 174,456
2019 2N
Financial assets LG E
Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss
oA FAEE
Hai AIRZ
4 A
Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated amortised
as such cost Total
R
K it .
i ) 48 E Z A RE B A5t
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK3$’000
W BT T W
Listed equity investments iR A 3,979 - 3,979
Unlisted club debenture I EH g ER 1,300 - 1,300
Trade receivables HE W’ 5 ik ik - 20,251 20,251
Financial assets included in LG R FAT I > 5T & R H
prepayments, deposits and other b 8 WUk T 2 4 L
receivables (note 18) (H7E18) - 1,536 1,536
Due from associates JRE W T 42 2\ ) - 90 90
Cash and cash equivalents B4 R B4 % HE H - 175,590 175,590
5,279 197,467 202,746
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33.

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. WL HE 258 ()
(continued)
Financial liabilities £y
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
i B 5 AR N R 1 4 1 £ A
2020 2019
TR ZERUE
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 MRk e 3 4,694 7,790
Financial liabilities included in other payables and AL 556 T JE A R A 5K T M it
accruals (note 22) Rz SRR (HiE22) 96 196
Due to associates JRE A 3k 8 A ] 144 35
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JRE A e i ik It O 3,128 2,507
Interest-bearing bank borrowings PR BT R B Z SRAT K 20,469 37,527
Lease liabilities L A 19,477 -
48,008 48,055

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
were carried at fair value.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, amounts due from/to associates, an amount due to a
non-controlling shareholder and interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance team is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The finance team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair value of the unlisted equity investment is
based on market observable transactions.
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34. Arigh T Z AT B AT i B (81
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy AR Ry
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement T 2 B R A 4 [ 4 ik T HL 0 O P R AR -
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value: R T Fl 0B E -

As at 31 March 2020

R B _FE=ZHA=1+—H

Fair value measurement using

A At R

Group

Quoted prices Significant

in active observable

markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total

A AR M K

WAL B AL
(58—M) (58 —M) GLis
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T T T T

Financial assets at fair value through ?Q/A\:Fiﬁ@?ﬁ@fﬁAE@
profit or loss: Z AT R
Listed equity investments b TR 2R 6,106 - 6,106
Unlisted club debenture I bl - 1,300 1,300
6,106 1,300 7,406
As at 31 March 2019 N2 —-NWE=H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
A PA AR
Group
Significant
Quoted prices observable
in active markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
‘ AL TR
WG WA B A N
(58 —J&) (58 &) Gl
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
EWTFT  EWTFT  EEFT
Financial assets at fair value through ?ﬁﬁ?iﬁ@ﬂfﬁfﬁ]\ﬁﬁ
profit or loss: Z 4 HhEE
Listed equity investments iSRG 3,979 - 3,979
Unlisted club debenture JE b B o - 1,300 1,300
3,979 1,300 5,279
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value BN SRVEREAESE — g A g 2 I i i
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into BTG R > MamEaEXemafne=
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities Ji 0 JE A B 2 B (AR ) o
(2019: Nil).
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair W_FREZHZET—H > ARG E AT

value as at 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

WA TR 2 BB (2B JUAE © ) -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and cash equivalents.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
and bills payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and short term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s funding policy uses short term interest-bearing debts
to finance its working capital requirements. The Group borrows
mainly at floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in Hong Kong dollar with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit/loss before tax (through the impact
on cash and cash equivalents and floating rate borrowings) and
the Group’s equity.

35. W0 R Be A B H B B BOOR

AR 2 e TR AR AN R B Z AT
B AB MBI EFMEEE - Z¥EEMTRZ
EEMBTI AR B ERE o AREMBER
R Wi 0 M ok D WA S 5 MR ik B 5 R 4 4% T L
il 5 il e S SR > TS L AR R A A

PRI A 48 [ 2 4 il T L o A o 3 )
JE B~ A B~ R BB B B
JBe 553 R A L B o o A M IR R B A I
S5 Bt e o R G

% e B

A AR [ R AR I T 5 R A AL B s B B AR
P B < e B 4 S EUH H BLDAR B ARG R 2
W B A B -

AR [ 5 4 B SR TG 8 F  IT JE  R B 2 A
B B ST F o AR H LR B
RAGK

TR ARG B iR A s 1 e A 4R
e 25 EE o0 2 5 B AT B A B (P A LAt IR R A
ARG ) Z U R O Bl 46 Bl 4 i H B
T R REE) -

Increase/
(decrease)
Increase/ in profit/ Increase/
(decrease) in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
I e i
-3 WA Bl 22
Bim, (W) Bim, (W) B, (W)
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
2020 -t St 28
Hong Kong dollar Wt 50 664 -
Hong Kong dollar oo (50) (664) -
2019 —F g
Hong Kong dollar T 50 669 -
Hong Kong dollar TN (50) (669) -
* Excluding retained profits #* AR B A
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or expenses of operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group’s monetary
assets, financing and transactions were principally denominated
in Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar.

Since the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar,
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the
bank balances and trade and bills payables denominated in United
States dollars is considered to be minimal.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2020
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35. S5 LB 4Y B H B B BOR ()

A E M B8

A4 1 2 R o T o % S R T TR
A8 BLAL DL % B An 2 T BE B W DA A 2 B AT
HEd M - AEHMERERE  ME &
B oy EEVHETC K SFETLE A

HI R o0 B SE e > BRI o AR AT B DA 5
O RE AR Z SRAT &5 Bk e ME A B2 0 M sk B R 4 2 Bh
M J o 2 8 2 B /D> o

17 £ L B

S 0 B 2 R T S 2 B R R
Sh o B BASE I 2 WO > B B A ST
35 5% 5 o M e 1 B MG R o
B » % S 400 s G W e 2 A D T A A
2 S0 J ol 7R K o

B A B A A B

NP AE E A RECR AR R K
e K5 BB o 3 SR R A 0T R (BRI L Al
R AT A R A H S 0 BEROAR 55 ) WA UL
Wrd) > B =H =+ — H 4K B By 8oy
M o B AR B S T < i 7 A AR T i o

KRR -REZA=1T—H

12-months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
124 A 9
5 R 2O A AR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BoRB BB BB fiifb & A5t

HK$°000  HK$’000  HK$000  HK$’000  HK$°000
#W T #WTx EWTIX W TXK EWTI

Financial assets A E
Trade receivables* JRE W B 2 R ik + - - - 19,010 19,010
Financial assets included in #F ATEAT#KIE ~ 5T & K&

prepayments, deposits and il & UK I 2 4 Rl

other receivables G

— Normal** — 1F 2,456 - - - 2,456
Due from associates JRE W B 4% A ) 235 - - - 235
Cash and cash equivalents Bl & KBl & F{HHH

— Not yet past due — I A 2 4 154,389 - - - 154,389

157,080 - 19,010 176,090
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 March 2019

35. S5 LB 4Y BI H B B BOR ()

fr SE B8 (%)
B A A A BE (A7)
R NWEZH=Z+—H

12-months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
124 7
& R Y EBEHEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB BB RS ik At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ML T EETFoL BEFToL  EETx
Financial assets Sl A
Trade receivables* JRE W B 5 JR ko - - - 25,155 25,155
Financial assets included in #F AFEAT#EH ~ 5T & &
prepayments, deposits and il B Wk TH 2 4 Rl
other receivables " E
— Normal** — IEH 1,536 - - - 1,536
Due from associates JFE W W 2% A ] 90 - - - 90
Cash and cash equivalents ~ Bi& KBl & F{HIHH
— Not yet past due — Wi AR 175,590 - - - 175,590
177,216 - - 25,155 202,371
#* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * ol A A [ S S A T R A 3 B R MK B2 5 R R T

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

*#*%  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayment,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are disclosed
in notes 17 and 18, respectively, to the financial statements.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. W5 B B 4 PILH B R BOSR (A1)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk W) 4 B
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a AREEEBRAREERHESFTHTH &
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity RESEHERE - W T HEgHELSH T H R
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade g E (BN SR R H &R AR
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. BB B e R -
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between A SR B B AR A T I 8 A T A ) B 2 SRAT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of Bk AL T AR » DR FE 4 T A0 Ik B 0 1tk Y
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities. T o
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as IR TR AR B BUR SR » LR 8050 A 48 i ik
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual EHRZEMAMBRMAE -
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2020
- St £ 8
On demand
or less than 1toS
12 months years Total
58 7
A k1248 H —ZHAE A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

W T BT W T

Trade and bills payables AT B 5 MRk B 5 4,694 - 4,694
Other payables At A5 B ik 96 - 96
Due to associates JRE A B 2 2 ) 144 - 144
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JRE AT ¥ T B TR 3,128 - 3,128
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT RS Z SRAT B 20,545 - 20,545
Lease liabilities fE A 5,391 15,281 20,672
33,998 15,281 49,279

2019

R

On demand

or less than

12 months

538 5,

A 1248 H

HKS$’000

BT T

Trade and bills payables AT B 5 IRk B 5 7,790
Other payables o Ath JE A R 3K 196
Due to associates JRE A T 7 2 W] 35
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JE A 22 e I 3R 2,507
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z SRAT B 37,622
48,150
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(note 19) as at 31 March 2020.

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments had
been 3% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit after tax for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$183,000 (2019: HK$99,000) as
a result of the changes in the fair value of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares.

As at 31 March 2020, there was no indication of breach of
covenants. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 31 March 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:

35. S5 LB 4Y BI H B B BOR ()

JBe 53¢ AU L Bt

I 5% M A% L it i 4 PR B i MK T B AR ) O
2 i A6 5 ) T 2 BORE 25 27 4 O B AR 2 L
B MR DREZA = H > AREERZ
PR32 O3 (08 48 4R 2 AR 2 4l 5 72 (FRFRE19)
Z M1 50 R e B T | BB S A A B

it % LT Rl 25 B 2 BRI, WA 3% » oAl
TSR R A R > AR ] 2 R AR I R BLAR Tk
A PR A 55 T R R A B W R 2 AR
G A RS 2 O P-E A B mg B YA £7183,000
Wt (ZF—JuH 1 99,0008 70) °

HAE A

ACHR [ A B B R e AR AC SR AT R
0 ¥ AR S 2 D ) T T A e A R AR
Vo 3R DL S 7 S0 S 0 e AL B R AR A -

A 5 T L4 ACE U O A1 2 A A B AR A I
T DA B o T A G R A A o AR I T
O e B IR OR Z IR~ 1 e SRR [ A R B AT T
HﬁO

RERZREZH=Z—H o WEEREHZ
PR REREZFRZREA=ZT AR CF
—HEZA=ZT—HIEER > EARERZH
B~ B AR N A B A

A 0 AU AR H R DU AR > SRR
JRUBBN ) I 2 BRAT B Bk AR 2 ) e i e A
JRE AV 1 25 T 15 B R o 4060 A b 6 o g A A
JE R SRR o R ECEIIR > RUREA LRI :

2020 2019

SRORE CF LK

HK$’000 HK$’000

W T BT T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT R Z AT B 20,469 37,527
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 5 JB R AR FIRE SR TR B

a5 601,679 648,342

Gearing ratio HAEEAR LR 3% 6%
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
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36. A2 W) W R DL

ARAF R AR Z M BAARLRER W T -

2020 2019
TRORAE RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o Vo o T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I By &
Interests in subsidiaries T B G A W) Z RE 25 228,109 228,108
CURRENT ASSETS U B
Due from subsidiaries JFEE Wig B g A ) 150,135 144,249
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables THATARIE ~ BT 4 B I R ik
K IE 116 127
Cash and cash equivalents Be KB 45 HEH 858 1,562
Total current assets B A A 151,109 145,938
CURRENT LIABILITIES it B A 4
Due to subsidiaries JRE A i Jeg A ] 57,190 45,723
Other payables and accruals L Al A 5K T % M it AR 909 830
Total current liabilities A RE 58,099 46,553
NET CURRENT ASSETS it B 93,010 99,385
Net assets BRETH 321,119 327,493
EQUITY B 3%
Share capital JB A< 117,095 117,095
Retained profits (note) PR B A (B L) 204,024 210,398
Total equity HE 25 A {H 321,119 327,493

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen 5% %
Director # %

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3¢ & ¥

Director #

—E—=

SRS

FER |

ERRERREERERAA
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. 72 vl W B R Bk ()
COMPANY (continued)
Note: MfGE ¢
A summary of the Company’s retained profits is as follows: AN E AR R Z BT
Retained
profits
P B ¥
HK$’000
BT
At 1 April 2018 W=/ EMNH—H 26,846
Total comprehensive income for the year AR A JBE 48 2 T WL AR 183,552
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R_F-NE=ZHA=Z1T—H R
ZEZ-JUEMHA—H 210,398
Total comprehensive loss for the year AR B 48 2 i R 4R (6,374)
At 31 March 2020 R oFRE=ZA=+—H 204,024
37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 37. JHE N2 Atk
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue jﬁﬁj%*ﬁ%@%:g:gﬁf\ﬁ “HuHEE
by the board of directors on 29 June 2020. 20 ik v I 2 RE ) B o
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